
Swindon Borough Council 
 
Audit Committee  
 
Tuesday, 20 September 2011  
 

Committee Room 6, Civic Offices 
 
 

At 6.00 p.m. 
 
Conservative 
Councillors 

Labour Councillors 
Michael Dickinson 
(Chair) 
Fionuala Foley 
Mary Martin 
Peter Stoddart 
Vera Tomlinson 
 

Des Moffatt (Vice-
Chair) 
Steve Allsopp 
 

 
 

Committee Officer: Steve Jones (01793 463602) 
email: stevejones@swindon.gov.uk 
Swindon Borough Council, Civic Offices, Euclid Street, Swindon, SN1 2JH 
(Telephone 01793 445500) 
 
 

AGENDA 
1. Apologies for Absence   
2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are requested at the start of the meeting to declare any known interests 
in any matter to be considered, and are reminded that any such interest should 
also be declared at the start of an item or during any discussion of the matter 
concerned.  

 
3. Public Question Time   

 See explanatory note below.  Please phone the Committee Officer whose name 
and number appears at the top of this agenda if you need further guidance).   

 
4. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 4) 

 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2011  
 
5. Final Accounts 2010-11 (DF-CE) (Pages 5 - 8) 
6. Annual Governance Statement (HIA-CE) (Pages 9 - 24) 
7. Internal Audit reports identifying significant risk or 'of concern':Adult 

Social Care - Eligibility of Care (HIA-CE) (Pages 25 - 48) 



8. Anti-Fraud & Bribery Strategy and Whistleblowing Procedure (HIA-CE) 
(Pages 49 - 80) 

9. Head of Internal Audit Update (HIA-CE) (Pages 81 - 92) 
Date of Despatch: 12 September 2011 
 
Key: 
 
 
DF - B - Director of Finance 
HIA-CE - Head of Internal Audit 
 
Public Question Time - Swindon Borough Council is committed to increasing its 
accountability to the public and to promoting active citizenship.  Up to 15 minutes will 
be allowed at the start of all Council meetings for questions to the Chair from 
members of the public about the work of the Committee (except for confidential 
matters and specific planning applications).  Questions must be relevant, clear and 
concise.  Because of time constraints Public Question Time is not an opportunity to 
make speeches or statements.  Prior notice of a question to the Director of Law and 
Democratic Services is desirable - particularly if detailed background information is 
needed.   
 
Access Arrangements – The Venue is wheelchair accessible and an infrared 
receiver hearing system is provided.  If you would wish to attend the meeting but 
have any special requirement to enable you to do so please contact the Committee 
Clerk above, as soon as possible prior to the date of the meeting. 
 
If you would like to receive any of the pages contained in this agenda in a larger print 
size please contact the Committee Officer whose name appears on the first page of 
this agenda. 
 
 

The Audit Committee - Terms of Reference 
(the complete terms of reference and programme of activity for the Audit Committee 

are set out in Minute 61 of the meeting of the Audit Sub-Committee held on 25 
January 2006) 

 
To provide independent assurance to the Council on the following responsibilities:  
(i) the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management, internal control and its 

overall assurance framework;  
(ii) the effectiveness of the Council’s financial and non-financial  performance to 

the extent that it might impact upon (i) above;  
(iii) the performance of the Council’s Internal Audit section; 
(iv)  the receipt and review of External Audit reports and liaison with external 

auditors on significant matters identified, and 
(v) advise upon and/or review the effectiveness of any other matters referred to 

the Audit Committee by the Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny and 
Regulatory Committees. 

 
 
 



AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY, 28 JUNE 2011 
 
 
PRESENT:- Councillors Michael Dickinson (Chair), Des Moffatt (Vice-Chair), 
Steve Allsopp, Fionuala Foley, Mary Martin, Peter Stoddart and Vera Tomlinson 
 
 
1.   Declarations of Interest 

 
The Chair reminded Members of the need to declare any known interests in any 
matters to be considered at the meeting.  
 
2.   Public Question Time 

 
Mr Des Morgan put a number of questions to the Committee on the topic of officer 
conduct in relation to the decision-making processes that preceded the Council’s 
agreement with Digital City (UK) Ltd for a Wi-Fi project and requesting that an audit 
review be carried out in respect of the decision and, in particular, the risk 
assessment carried out in relation to the security of the loan made to that company. 
 
The Group Director, Business Transformation, responded to issues raised by Mr. 
Morgan regarding the risk assessment carried out by the Council in relation to the 
wi-fi business case. 
 
The Committee considered Mr Morgan’s request for an audit review to be carried 
out by Internal Audit as part of its 2011/12 work programme and specific proposals 
put by Councillor Des Moffatt on the terms of reference of such a review. The Chair 
commented that in order to undertake an audit review of this scale, topics would 
have to be identified to be dropped from the draft Internal Audit Plan 2011/12 
approved by members at the Committee meeting on 26 April 2011. The Committee 
voted on a motion put by Councillor Des Moffatt that an Internal Audit Review be 
undertaken of the Council’s agreement with Digital City (UK) Ltd for the delivery of a 
boroughwide wi-fi project, in accordance with terms suggested by Councillor Moffatt. 
The motion was declared lost.  
 
3.   Minutes 

 
 Resolved - That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2011 be 
confirmed and signed. 
 
4.   Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2011/12 

 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Finance, introduced by the 
Deputy Group Finance Manager (Capital and Treasury), regarding the Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2011/12, including the Annual Investment Strategy, 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and the Prudential Indicators for the 
period 2010/11 to 2013/14. 
 Resolved – (1) That the report, and the details of the Treasury Management 
Strategy 2011/12, be noted. 
 (2) That the Deputy Group Finance Manager (Capital and Treasury), be 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



thanked for attending the meeting and for his useful and informative presentation of 
the report and his responses to members’ questions.  
 (3) That it be noted that, in fulfilment of its enhanced role in relation to the 
scrutiny of the Council's Treasury Management Strategy, the Strategy document 
would be submitted to the Audit Committee annually for consideration and approval, 
with a second report to be made during the course of each year to facilitate 
members’ scrutiny of the Council’s performance against the strategy. 
 
5.   Internal Audit reports identifying significant risk or 'of concern': 

Corporate manslaughter/ Health Safety and Wellbeing Update 
 

The Committee received a report on progress in implementing the Management 
response to the Internal Audit recommendations arising from the review of the 
mitigating controls in place to prevent a case of corporate manslaughter. It was 
noted that the audit review was finalised in May 2010 when an overall risk 
assessment of “Of Concern” was given. The Council’s Group Director, Business 
Transformation, was in attendance to provide a current position statement and to 
respond to members’ questions on issues raised by the audit review, the 
management response to the audit conclusions and key recommendations, and 
progress in implementing the agreed action plan. 
            Resolved – (1) That the report, and progress in relation to the 
implementation of the agreed action plan, be noted. 
 (2) That a further progress report on the implementation of the action plan be 
submitted to the January 2012 meeting of the Committee. 
 
6.   Draft Accounts 2010-11 

 
The Director of Finance submitted a report introducing the Pre-Audited Statement of 
Accounts for the Financial Year 2010/11 for the Committee's consideration.  

Resolved – (1) That the Pre-Audited Statement of Accounts for the Financial 
Year 2010/11 be noted. That it be noted that the final accounts would be submitted 
to the September meeting of the Committee for approval. 
 (2) That, in order to facilitate the challenge and scrutiny of the Council’s 
accounts, and to provide the greatest level of transparency in relation to its 
accounting processes, the officers consider how the current practice for scrutiny by 
members and by the public might be appropriately enhanced. 
 (3) That a report be made to the Committee annually, detailing the Council’s 
accounting policies and providing a distinction between statutory guidelines and 
policies where some discretion can be exercised by the Authority. 
 (4) That the Director of Finance and his Team be thanked for their hard work 
in producing the Statement of Accounts 2010/11.  
 
7.   Future of local public audit 

 
The Committee received a report of the Head of Internal Audit on the details of the 
Department for Communities and Local Government’s consultation paper on the 
“Future of local public audit” and member and officer comments that had been 
received in response to the direct questions put in the consultation paper. The 
Committee also considered the contents of a letter from the Permanent Secretary 
on the consultation process and the transfer of audit work from the Commission’s in-
house audit practice to the private sector. 
 Resolved – That the Head of Internal Audit be authorised to compile the 

Page 2



Council’s response to the consultation paper, in liaison with the Chair of the Audit 
Committee and the Council’s Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer and in 
accordance with the responses detailed in the appendix to the report. 
 
8.   Audit Committee: Annual Report for the year 2010/11 

 
The Head of Internal Audit submitted a report introducing the Committee's Annual 
Report for 2010/11. 

Resolved – That the report be noted.  
 
9.   Audit Committee - Terms of Reference 

 
The Committee received a report of the Head of Internal Audit detailing the Audit 
Committee’s terms of reference and work programme for 2011/12. 
 Resolved – That, subject to the minor textual changes to the work 
programme highlighted by the chair, and the inclusion of the additional reports 
requested by the Committee during its consideration of agenda item no. 4 
(“Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2011/12”), the Audit Committee’s 
revised terms of reference and its work programme for 2011/12 be approved. 
 
10.   Internal Audit's Annual Report 2010/11 

 
The Committee received a report on the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual report for 
2010/11, providing a summary of the work completed by Internal Audit Services in 
2010/11 and his overall opinion of the Council’s system of internal control. 
 Resolved – That the report be noted and that the Head of Internal Audit and 
his officers be thanked for their conscientious and hard work over last year in 
meeting the requirements of a very comprehensive audit programme.  
 
11.   Audit Committee: Effectiveness of the system of Internal Audit 

 
The Head of Internal Audit submitted a report inviting the Committee to conduct a 
review of the effectiveness of the Council's system of Internal Audit in order to 
comply with the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006. 
 Resolved – (1) That the various areas of assurance and supporting evidence 
set out in the report, and the information contained in the Checklist provided in the 
CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the UK 2006, 
appended to the report, and the CIPFA Audit Committee Toolkit Self Assessment 
Checklist, also appended to the report, as revised by the Committee during its 
consideration of the report, be accepted as providing assurance of the effectiveness 
of the Council's system of Internal Audit. 

(2) That members be invited to advise the Head of Internal Audit or the Chair 
of topics featuring in the Committee’s work programme where they felt some 
member training might be usefully provided. 
 
12.   Anti Bribery Information for the Audit Committee 

 
The Head of Internal Audit submitted a report briefing the Committee on the main 
elements of the Bribery Act, which comes in to force on 1st July 2011, including the 
four key offences under the Act, and highlighting bribery as a risk, summarising how 
the Council is addressing bribery and what further action is planned, and 
demonstrating links to other anti-fraud initiatives and policies. 

Page 3



 Resolved – That the report be noted.  
 
13.   External Audit Progress report 

 
Mr Martin Robinson of the Audit Commission presented a progress report regarding 
the delivery of its responsibilities as the Council’s external auditor, including a 
schedule of progress in relation to each area of work to be undertaken as part of the 
2010/11 audit. 
 Resolved – That the progress report be noted.  
 
14.   Head of Internal Audit Update 

 
The Committee received a report of the Head of Internal Audit summarising the 
main issues arising from the Internal Audit reports finalised since the last Audit 
Committee meeting in April 2011 and progress made against the Annual Internal 
Audit Plan. 
 Resolved - (1) That the report be noted. 
 (2) That the Chair, in conjunction with the Head of Internal Audit, determine 
which finalised Audit report(s) should be referred to the Audit Committee for detailed 
consideration.  
 
 

Page 4



Final Accounts 2010-11 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE                                                               Date: 20 September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Darren Stevens 
on Direct Dial No.3323 or Email dstevens@swindon.gov.uk. 

Author: Director of Finance 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 
 

Purpose 
To present the Statement of Accounts for 2010-11. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 

The Audit Committee is asked to:  
• Note the content of the report and 
• Approve the annual statement of accounts, subject to additional updates. 
 
 
1. Reasons 
 

1.1 The Audit Committee is the designated body for approval of the Council’s final 
accounts.  

 
2. Update on the Draft Accounts Presented in June 
 

2.1 The draft accounts presented in June were not the final draft as signed off on 
30th June by the Director of Finance. As stated in the report of that committee 
meeting, there were updates being made which changed some of the numbers 
in the version initially presented to Members. 

 
2.2 Apart from changes connected to roundings and other totalling checks, there 

were two material updates made to the accounts between committee and draft 
sign-off/presentation to external audit. These were: 

 
2.2.1 Cash and cash equivalents. The final draft was updated to show a 

reduction to cash for amounts received in the bank but not hitting 
the ledger at 31st March. This was moved to reduce debtors. 

2.2.2 Capital Grants Unapplied. The original treatment for capital grants 
unapplied transferred significantly all capital grant funding and 
contributions to the unapplied account. Discussion with external 
audit at that time resulted in the transfer of some contributions to 
receipts in advance, as they were deemed to have conditions 
attached that had not yet been met. 

 
2.3 The following table summarises the changes in values between copy to 

committee and the final draft presented to external audit. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Final Accounts 2010-11 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE                                                               Date: 20 September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Darren Stevens 
on Direct Dial No.3323 or Email dstevens@swindon.gov.uk. 

 1/4/09 31/03/10 31/3/11 
 £000 £000 £000 
Cash Equivalents    
To Committee 24,002 26,948 23,280 
To External Audit 24,002 26,945 17,410 
Change 0 (3) (5,870) 
    
Amounts Transferred to Capital Grants Unapplied  09/10 10/11 
To Committee  (24,068) (14,396) 
To External Audit  (19,880) (6,175) 
Change  4,188 8,221 
 
3. Audit Process 
 

3.1 The external audit of the accounts is still progressing and the report of the 
auditors will be presented on the evening of committee with a verbal update. 
However, there are a number of items identified for change that are being 
incorporated into the final accounts. Beyond narrative and consistency updates 
there are some material changes, but nothing which has affected the Council’s 
general fund balance.   
 

3.2  The main changes being updated for are: 
 

3.2.1 HRA impairment. Changes in the discount factor applied to the 
valuation of housing stock were not incorporated into the initial 
valuation. This is overstating the calculated valuation by c£130m.  
A large number of local authorities have been affected by this 
change which was not felt to be clearly communicated. 

3.2.2 Adult Social Care recharges. Internal recharges within adult social 
care services were not cancelled out at year end, overstating 
expenditure and income by c£30m. 

3.2.3 Group accounts. The group consolidation process requires removal 
of all income and expenditure which is purely within the group. This 
adjustment relates to c£60m of transactions between SCS and 
SBC and was not included within the original draft accounts. 

3.2.4 Pensions past service cost. The national change from an RPI to a 
CPI rate of inflation measure being applied to pensions resulted in 
a £53m reduction in past service costs. This was originally shown in 
non-distributed costs in the comprehensive income and expenditure 
statement. As a one-off event due to the inflationary change it will 
be shown instead in exceptional items. 

3.2.5 Capital grants. After further discussion with external audit on the 
treatment of capital grants and contributions, the process for 
transferring funding to the capital grant unapplied account is being 
updated. This will result in c£20m of grants transferred to receipts 
in advance from capital grants unapplied, and is due to a change in 

Page 6



Final Accounts 2010-11 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE                                                               Date: 20 September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Darren Stevens 
on Direct Dial No.3323 or Email dstevens@swindon.gov.uk. 

the interpretation of the technical guidance around how the timing 
of recognition is considered. 
 

3.3 Despite the size of the adjustments required, they are either items which have 
a corresponding statutory reversal so as not to impact on council tax / the 
general fund, or impact on both expenditure and income and therefore have a 
nil impact on the net position. 
 

3.4 The external audit report to those charged with governance will include items 
identified and updated for. 

 
 
Alternative Options 
 

• The annual Statement of Accounts are a statutory requirement. 
 
 

Risk Management  
 

Financial and Procurement Implications 
• Contained in the body of the report. 
 
Legal / Human Rights Implications 
• There are no Legal/Human Rights issues. 
 
Links to Corporate Plans and Policies (in particular to Swindon 2010 Promises) 
• None. 
 

 

Consultees 
• None 
 

Background Papers and Appendices 
• Appendix 1 – 2010/11 Statement of Accounts (to follow) 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Governance Statement 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE Date: 20th September 2011 
 
Author: Head of Internal Audit 
Wards Affected: None 
Purpose 
The purpose of the report is to provide Audit Committee with details of the draft 
Annual Governance Statement for comment and approval.  
 

 
Recommendation 
• It is recommended that the Audit Committee reviews and approves the 

Annual Governance Statement for sign off by the Leader and Chief 
Executive. 

 
 
1 Reasons 

 
1.1 The Council’s Audit Committee has a strategic role to ensure that the 

Council’s assurance framework is operating effectively. To this end it 
should seek assurance that key areas that contribute to this framework 
are operating properly. 

 
1.2 The Annual Governance Statement sets out the Council’s governance 

arrangements and is therefore a key source of assurance for the Audit 
Committee. 

 
2 Detail 

 
2.1 The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is the formal statement that 

recognises, records and publishes an authority’s governance 
arrangements.  

 
2.2 It is designed not only to give an opportunity for authorities to consider 

the robustness of their governance arrangements, but also provide an 
accurate representation of arrangements in place during the year and 
to identify areas where improvement is required. 

 
2.3 The Council has approved and adopted a local code of corporate 

governance, which is consistent with the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework for Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government. This statement explains how the Council has complied 
with the code and also meets the requirements of regulation 4(2) of the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 as amended by the Accounts 
and Audit (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2011 in relation to the 
publication of a statement on internal control. 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 9



Annual Governance Statement 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE Date: 20th September 2011 
 

2.4 There is a prescribed layout for the AGS that requires the Council to 
set out its governance arrangements and key elements of internal 
control and the sources of assurance; a review of the effectiveness of 
those governance and internal controls and a requirement to identify 
significant governance issues. The Council must ensure that it can 
provide evidence for any of the systems of internal control included in 
the AGS. 

 
2.5 Guidance issued by CIPFA regarding the statement also recommends 

that a suitable independent management group should review the 
content of the AGS. The Council’s Audit Committee will undertake this 
role. The Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council will sign the 
statement once the Audit Committee has approved it.  

 
2.6 The draft Annual Governance Statement is set out in Appendix 1 to 

this report. 
 
2.7 As part of the document the Council must identify any areas of 

significant governance or internal control issues that have occurred 
during 2010/11. Potential areas for inclusion were discussed at 
Corporate Board. This included reviewing last year’s statement and 
agreeing whether any issues raised for 2009/10 could be taken off and 
whether any new issues needed to be included. 

 
2.8 It was agreed that the following issues could be removed from the 

statement: 
� Housing Benefits claim processing 
� Sickness absence 
� Impact of single status 
� Budgetary control arrangements within Special Educational Needs 

and Recoupment 
� Level 2 and Level 3 attainment 

 
2.9 Corporate Board agreed that further progress was still required in the 

following areas before they could be taken off the statement: 
� Health and Safety Governance 
� Information Governance 
� Project Commissioning, Sponsorship and Management 
 

2.10 Corporate Board agreed that the following areas should be added to 
the statement for 2010/11: 
� Adult Social Care financial management and delivery of savings 
� Governance around making commercial decisions in a public and 

political environment 
� Complexity of delivering outcomes through 3rd parties where there 

is influence rather than direct control, within the context of a 
changing national policy framework 

Page 10



Annual Governance Statement 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE Date: 20th September 2011 
 

2.11 Although not wanting to include Stronger Together in the statement for 
2010/11, Corporate Board wanted to recognise that this will 
significantly change the way the Council is governed and makes 
decisions in the future. Any issues arising from this governance 
change will be monitored throughout 2011/12 and where necessary will 
be included in the Annual Governance Statement for that year. 

 
2.12 There are various sources of assurance that can inform both Corporate 

Board and Audit Committee on how the governance arrangements and 
systems of internal control within the Council have been operating (see 
Appendix 2).  

 
Alternative Options 
Not Applicable 
 
Risk Management 
Financial and Procurement Implications 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report however 
individual audit reports address the suitability of internal controls within the 
systems examined.  
Legal/Human Rights Implications 
Internal Audit is a statutory requirement of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2011. The Internal Audit service also provides assurance to the Director of 
Finance regarding the requirements of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
Links to Corporate Plans and Policies (in particular to Swindon 2010 Promises) 
Effective systems of internal control within the Council will help to ensure that the 
objectives set out in One Swindon are achieved. 
 
Consultees:  
Chief Executive 
All Group Directors 
All Directors 
The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and the Director of Law and Democratic 
Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted on all reports. 
All service managers, Directors, Group Directors and Members who have contributed 
to individual audits during the course of 2010/11. 

Page 11



Annual Governance Statement 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE Date: 20th September 2011 
 
 
 
Appendices / Background papers 
Appendix 1 – The Annual Governance Statement 2010/11 
Appendix 2 – Assurance Framework 

 
 
Key Decision/Decision in Forward Plan 
Not Applicable 
 

Page 12



Appendix 1 
 

 1  
 

SWINDON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT: 2010/11 
 
 
1. Scope of responsibility 

Swindon Borough Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted 
in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having a regard to a combination of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness. 
In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective 
exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
The Council has approved and adopted a local code of corporate governance, which 
is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework for Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government. This statement explains how the Council 
has complied with the code and also meets the requirements of the Accounts and 
Audit (England) Regulations 2011 in relation to the publication of a statement on 
internal control. 
 

2. The purpose of the governance framework 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and 
values, by which the authority is directed and controlled and its activities through 
which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the authority 
to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those 
objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services. 
The system of internal control is a significant part of the framework and is designed 
to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an 
ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of 
the Council’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The following section of the statement summarises Swindon Borough Council’s 
governance framework that has been in place for the year ended 31st March 2011 
and up to the date of approval of this Statement and the Statement of Accounts. The 
framework described reflects the arrangements in place to meet the six core 
principles of effective governance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



Appendix 1 
 

 2  
 

3. The Council’s framework for ensuring compliance with the core principles of 
effective governance 
(a) The Council’s purpose, outcomes for the community and creating and 

implementing a vision for the local area. 
The central premise of One Swindon involves shifting the balance of power, 
responsibility and resources away from the public sector bodies such as the 
Council to local people. It is a four-year partnership plan, set in the context of 
less resource in the future for all public sector agencies, the end of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan, its 50 Promises and the end of Local Area 
Agreements.  
There was an extensive engagement programme working with 
partners/officers/members to build on One Swindon to reach a point where 
partners, Boards, Cabinet and Full Council could agree the principles, high 
level priorities. One Swindon was launched in January 2011 and set out the 
following priority areas: 
� We can all benefit from a growing economy and a better town centre 
� I like where I live 
� Everyone is enjoying sports, leisure and cultural opportunities 
� Living independently, protected from harm, leading healthy lives and 

making a positive contribution 
Many of the Council’s services are informed by local consultation and are 
delivered to a high standard that make the best use of resources and are value 
for money, evidenced by: 
• Benchmarking the cost and performance of our services. SBC took a 

national lead in setting up a Unitary Benchmarking club in partnership with 
PWC. 

• Working increasingly with our partners, delivering services that meet the 
needs of the local community, and put in place processes to ensure that 
they operate effectively in practice. 

• Through the use of data, determining local needs and targeting resources 
accordingly. 

• Responding positively to the findings and recommendations of external 
auditors and statutory inspectors and putting in place arrangements for the 
implementation of agreed actions. 

• Carrying out value for money benchmarking of our costs and performance 
against our family groupings to ensure best use is made of the resources 
available to the Council. 

• Delivering specific projects within an effective, corporate programme 
management framework, as appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Appendix 1 
 

 3  
 

(b) Members and Officers working together to achieve a common purpose 
with clearly defined functions and roles. 
The Council has ensured that the necessary roles and responsibilities for its 
governance are identified and allocated so that it is clear who is accountable for 
decisions that are made. The Council has done this by: 
• Appointing a Leader of the Council, and executive members (cabinet 

members), with defined executive responsibilities. 
• Agreeing a scheme of delegated executive responsibilities to directors, and 

protocols that make clear the respective roles of members and officers and 
ensure effective communication between them. 

• Annually appointing committees to discharge the Council’s regulatory 
responsibilities. 

• Annually appointing committees to discharge the Council’s overview and 
scrutiny responsibilities. 

• Setting clear role definitions for chairs of committees and councillors in their 
different roles. 

• Undertaking an annual review of the operation of the Council’s constitution. 
• Making the Chief Executive (the Head of Paid Service) responsible and 

accountable to the Council for all aspects of operational management. 
• Making a senior officer (the Monitoring Officer) responsible to the authority 

for ensuring the lawfulness and fairness of decision-making, and that 
agreed procedures are followed and that all applicable statutes and 
regulations are complied with. 

• Making a senior officer (the Section 151 officer) responsible to the authority 
for ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for 
keeping proper financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an 
effective system of internal financial control. 

• Ensuring significant partnerships and contracts with other public bodies, 
voluntary and community organisations, and the private sector have clear 
governance accountabilities, including effective and equitable financial 
arrangements. 

• Having in place effective and comprehensive arrangements for the scrutiny 
of services.  

 
(c) Promoting our values and upholding high standards of Conduct and 

behaviour. 
The Council promotes and maintains high standards of ethical conduct of 
members and officers through the work of its Standards Committee. 
The Council fosters a culture of behaviour based on shared values, ethical 
principles and good conduct.  
The Council has done this by establishing and keeping under review: 
• The Council’s Constitution 
• A Members’ Code of Conduct 

Page 15



Appendix 1 
 

 4  
 

• An Officer’s Code of Conduct 
• A protocol governing Member/Officer Relations 
• A Members’ Planning Code of Good Practice 
• Monitoring Officer Protocol 
• Media Guidelines 
• Contract Standing Orders and Financial Regulations 
• The Council has committed itself to “In Touch” a set of values and 

behaviours (determined through extensive consultation with staff and 
Members) that will set and embed the organisational tone and culture 
moving forward. Commitment to this will be achieved by embedding it in the 
recruitment, appraisal and development processes. 

The Council takes fraud and corruption very seriously and has the following 
policies that aim to prevent or deal with such occurrences: 
• An anti-fraud and corruption strategy 
• A Whistleblowing policy 
• A Fraud Response Plan 
Conduct of Members is monitored by a Standards Committee, which also 
investigates allegations of misconduct by Members. 
 

(d) Taking informed and transparent decisions that are subject to effective 
scrutiny and managing risk. 
The Council has ensured that the decision-making process includes a rigorous 
risk assessment including: 
• Financial, legal and staffing implications 
• Sustainability implications 
• Health Impact and Promotion implications 
• Value for Money 
• Implications for Partnerships 
• Implications for Community Safety 
• Impact on Rural Communities. 
• Diversity and racial impact assessment 
• Risks, mitigations and opportunities 
The Council has been rigorous and transparent about how decisions are taken 
and recorded. The Council has: 
• Ensured the Cabinet make decisions in an open and transparent way and 

that information relating to those decisions is made available to the public, 
unless statutory rules provide otherwise 

Page 16



Appendix 1 
 

 5  
 

• Ensured that all decisions of regulatory committees of the Council are made 
in public and that information relating to those decisions is made available to 
the public, unless statutory rules provide otherwise 

• Ensured that legal and financial implications are recognised in all reports on 
which decisions are based  

• Recorded all decisions that are made by committees and key decisions 
made by officers (where applicable). 

• Rules and procedures, which govern how decisions are made. 
• Developed and maintained an effective overview and scrutiny function 

which encourages constructive challenge 
• Maintain an effective Standards Committee and Audit Committee  
The Council has continued to develop its risk management strategy to enable 
the Council to manage and control risks in order to maximise the quality of its 
service provision and uphold its reputation, making a powerful contribution to 
continuous service improvement and the achievement of best value.  
The Council has ensured that the risk management system: 
• Formally identifies and manages risks 
• Involves elected Members in the risk management process 
• Includes the undertaking of a risk assessment of every key or strategic 

decision 
• Maps risks to financial and other key internal controls 
• Reflects business continuity planning; and 
• Reviews and, if necessary, updates its risk management processes at least 

annually. 
 

(e) Developing the capacity and capability of Members and officers to be 
effective. 
The Council has ensured that those charged with the governance of the 
Council have the skills, knowledge and experience they need to perform well. 
The Council has done this by: 
• Maintaining member training and development through the Member 

Development Steering Group 
• Developing leadership skills and capacity across the Council 
• Developing our approach to workforce planning 
• Encouraging quality mark accreditation 
• Maintaining and developing our personal development and performance 

review systems 
• Cascading regular information to Members and staff by paper and electronic 

means, having regard to diversity issues 
 
 

Page 17



Appendix 1 
 

 6  
 

(f) Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust 
public accountability. 
The Council is committed to increasing public involvement in decision-making 
and devolving power to individuals and local organisations. We have sought 
and responded to the views of stakeholders and the community. The Council 
has done this by: 
• Forming and maintaining relationships with the leaders of other 

organisations 
• Ensuring openness and accessibility to citizens, service users and staff, 

including partner organisations 
• Implementing the Corporate Consultation Strategy and utilising an 

appropriate range of consultation methods 
• Making use of local forums at ward, parish and neighbourhood level to 

maintain communication with all the Borough’s communities and other 
stakeholders 

• Encouraging and supporting the public in submitting requests for Scrutiny 
• Maintaining and reviewing an effective complaints procedure 
• Developing the Connecting People, Connecting Places programme. 
 

4. Review of effectiveness 
Swindon Borough Council annually reviews the effectiveness of its governance 
framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is 
informed by executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, the Head of Internal 
Audit’s annual report, and also by comments made by the external auditors and 
other review agencies and inspectorates. 
Directors and relevant Heads of Service have completed a detailed questionnaire 
reviewing the control environment within their directorate and the results of the 
questionnaire have been used to inform our assessment of significant control issues 
for the Council. 
The following process has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control. Both in-year and year-end reviews 
processes have taken place.  
In year review mechanisms include: 
• The Executive is responsible for considering overall financial and performance 

management and receives comprehensive reports on a regular basis. It also 
receives reports relating to risk management and monitors the corporate risk 
register, as well as being responsible for key decisions and for initiating 
corrective action in relation to risk and internal control issues. 

• The terms of reference for the Audit Committee reflect CIPFA guidance best 
practice. The Committee is a full committee of the Council emphasising the 
commitment to ensuring that there are high standards of internal control within 
the Council. The Committee is responsible for reviewing the financial 

Page 18



Appendix 1 
 

 7  
 

performance, risk management and both Internal and External Audit performance 
and their findings and recommendations. 

• Internal Audit is an independent and objective assurance service to the 
management of the Council who complete a programme of reviews throughout 
the year to provide an opinion on the internal control environment in the areas 
examined. Their reviews include examination of the main financial systems, 
enabling them to provide the Section 151 Officer with an overall opinion on the 
main financial controls in place as well as risk management, internal control and 
governance arrangements across the authority. In addition the Section 
undertakes fraud investigation and proactive fraud detection work. Internal Audit 
report to each Audit Committee summarising audits finalised since the previous 
meeting. Audit Committee has called in relevant Directors to update them on the 
progress in implementing agreed audit recommendations. The Audit Committee 
also reviews the effectiveness of the Council’s system of internal audit. 

• Both Cabinet and the Audit Committee considered the External Auditor’s Annual 
Audit letter in 2010/11. The Annual Audit letter gives an opinion on the Council’s 
financial statements and provides a value for money conclusion. With the 
abolition of the Comprehensive Area Assessment much of the work previously 
covered by External Audit is no longer required. 
The External Auditor identified no material issues in their audit of the financial 
statements and issued an unqualified audit opinion on the Council’s financial 
statements and on its arrangements for securing value for money in 2009/10.  

• A Corporate Governance Working Group, consisting of both Members and 
officers, including the Monitoring Officer, reviews the effectiveness of the 
Council’s corporate governance arrangements by reference to the 
CIPFA/SOLACE corporate governance standards and other best practice. The 
Group has streamlined the Council’s decision-making process ensuring that 
agreed decisions could be implemented promptly. 

• The Council has also adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance against 
which Internal Audit assessed the Council’s compliance.  

• Risk Management – the Head of Performance and Risk Management leads the 
development of the corporate performance management and risk management 
strategies and frameworks including the Business Review framework. 
Champions lead on Risk and Performance within Group Directorates. Business 
Reviews are carried out quarterly at Corporate Board and these are used to 
review risks identified either through performance, Internal Audit or through the 
Corporate Risk Register. 

A year-end review of governance arrangements and the control environment has 
also been completed which included: 
• Obtaining assurances from all Group Directors and Directors that key elements 

of the control framework were in place during the year in their departments. They 
were also asked to identify areas where control weaknesses had resulted in a 
significant issue arising for the department. 

• Reviewing the Head of Internal Audit’s annual audit report presented to Audit 
Committee.  

Page 19



Appendix 1 
 

 8  
 

• Obtaining specific assurances from Directors with regard to the governance 
arrangements in place for key partnerships. 

 
5. Governance: Key Areas of Focus 

The review process has highlighted a number of significant areas for enhanced 
focus regarding the governance and internal control environment and these are 
described briefly below. For each one, action plans have been determined by a 
responsible officer and are under implementation or are in the process of being 
prepared and a summary of the key elements of these are included below: 

 
• Adult Social Care financial management and delivery of savings - Over the 

past two years an unprecedented level of savings in the Adult Social care budget 
have been identified and delivered.  Despite this, the continuing increases in 
demand for services, together with the challenge of effecting transformational 
changes at pace in this complex service area, have resulted in the budget 
continuing to overspend significantly.  Although the Council has been able to 
contain the additional costs within its overall budget, the lack of certainty in future 
budget projections for Adult Social Care has made financial planning a significant 
challenge.  Financial monitoring processes are continually being refined and 
improved, with a particular focus on increasing ownership and financial skills 
within the service area itself.  The move to establish a social enterprise for Adult 
Social Care and Health Services presents an opportunity to re-define the 
relationship between commissioners and providers of services, to ensure 
complete clarity around financial decision-making. 

 
• Health and Safety Governance – an Internal Audit review of health and safety 

raised the issue of governance across the organisation and the need to ensure 
transparent reporting and assessment of risks. This includes a review of the 
Health and Safety Policy to include the Corporate Manslaughter Act 
requirements. The required actions identified include: 
� Establish and embed robust governance structures to ensure scrutiny and 

effective management of Health and Safety and Wellbeing risks to the 
organisation. 

� Revise the Health and Safety Policy so that it is up to date in connection with 
legislation. 

� Providing support materials and guidance to managers to enable them to 
manage safety improve staff wellbeing and achieve reductions in sickness 
absence levels. 

� Revise and communicate Health Safety and Wellbeing policies to ensure that 
they are up to date. 

 
• Information Governance – There is a need to refresh policies and guidance to 

ensure that they reflect legislation, best practice and current use of IT. The 
Additional work on raising officer and Member awareness of the requirements of 
information governance.   

 
• Project Commissioning, Sponsorship and Management – the aim of the 

Council’s Corporate Programme Management Office, is to act as the professional 
lead for programme management; helping to improve successful delivery of 

Page 20



Appendix 1 
 

 9  
 

programmes and projects, as well as improving capability across our project and 
programme community. The ongoing development of the CPMO aims to ensure 
that three key areas of service are provided: 
� Strategic planning support; focus on supporting management decision-

making and ensuring project and programme alignment with strategy, 
prioritisation, benefits realisation, support for escalated risks and issues, and 
the provision of portfolio-level reporting. 

� Using the team as a central, flexible resource pool to support and deliver 
specific programmes and projects. 

� Development of standard methods and processes, working practices 
including training and coaching. Providing independent assurance and being 
seen as the centre of excellence for project and programme management. 

However, further work is required to ensure that projects are commissioned 
through proper arrangements and that their subsequent sponsorship ensures 
that project objectives are met.  

 
• Governance around making commercial decisions in a public and political 

environment – there is a challenge regarding how to best augment the Council’s 
existing processes to manage the transition of innovative commercial projects 
with private sector partners from inception to approval, whilst allowing the 
process to be as open and transparent as possible. 

 
• Complexity of delivering outcomes through 3rd parties where there is 

influence rather than direct control, within the context of a changing 
national policy framework – the Council continues to develop the way it 
interacts with 3rd parties where it does not have direct control of that organisation 
but where that 3rd party is working to achieve wider, including Council, objectives. 
This is a key objective of the commissioning function within Stronger Together. 

 
 
6. Certification 

To the best of our knowledge, the governance arrangements, as defined above, 
have been effectively operating during the year although we recognise the areas for 
additional focus identified in section 5. We are satisfied that these enhancements will 
address the need for improvements that were identified in our review of 
effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next 
annual review. 
 
Signed: 
 
 
 
 

Signed: 

Councillor Roderick Bluh 
Leader of the Council 

Gavin Jones 
Chief Executive 

 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

       

Au
tho

rit
y &

 
Di
rec

tor
ate

 Po
lic
ies

, 
Bu

sin
es
s P

lan
s a

nd
 

Ri
sk
 R
eg

ist
ers

 

An
nu

al 
Go

ve
rn
an

ce
 

St
ate

me
nt 

Fr
am

ew
or
k -

 K
ey
 do

cu
me

nts
/pr

oc
es
s g

uid
eli
ne

s  
• 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 m
an
ag
em

en
t 

• 
Bu

sin
es
s s

tra
teg

y a
nd
 pl
an
nin

g p
roc

es
s 

• 
Bu

dg
et 
an
d b

ud
ge
tar

y c
on
tro

l 
• 
Co

de
 of
 co

rpo
rat

e g
ov
ern

an
ce
 

• 
Pr
oje

ct 
ma

na
ge
me

nt/
 R
isk

 M
an
ag
em

en
t / 
An

ti F
rau

d P
oli
cy
 

• 
Eth

ica
l G

ov
ern

an
ce
 

• 
Po

lici
es
, p
roc

ed
ure

s, 
co
de
s o

f c
on
du
ct 

• 
Pa

rtn
ers

hip
 pr

oto
co
l 

Ap
pr
ov

al 
by
 A
ud

it C
om

mi
tte

e  

Co
rp
or
ate

 B
oa

rd
  

(re
sp

on
sib

le 
for

 dr
aft

ing
 A
GS

 
ev
alu

ate
 as

su
ran

ce
s a

nd
 

su
pp

or
tin

g e
vid

en
ce
) 

On
go
ing

 as
su
ran

ce
 on

 ad
eq
ua
cy
 an

d 
eff
ec
tiv
en
es
s o

f c
on
tro

ls 
ov
er 

ke
y r
isk

s 
(S
ee
 Ap

pe
nd
ix 
2 f
or 

de
tai
l) 

As
su

ran
ce
s b

y 
Co

rp
or
ate

 
Bo

ard
 / 

Di
rec

tor
s  

Fin
an

cia
l  

co
ntr

ol 
as
su

ran
ce
 

Ot
he

r s
ou

rce
s 

of 
as
su

ran
ce
 

(in
clu

din
g 

thi
rd
-pa

rty
) 

Ex
ter

na
l A

ud
it  

Ri
sk
 

Ma
na

ge
me

nt 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 

Ma
na

ge
me

nt 
 

& 
Da

ta 
Qu

ali
ty 

Int
ern

al 
Au

dit
  

Me
mb

ers
’ 

as
su

ran
ce
 e.
g. 

CG
W
G 
& 

St
an

da
rd
s  

Re
vie

w 
of 

the
 

eff
ec
tiv
en

es
s o

f th
e 

sy
ste

m 
of 

 
Int

ern
al 
Au

dit
 

 

 
Le

ga
l a
nd

 
Re

gu
lat

or
y  

 A
ss
ur
an

ce
 

AN
NU

AL
 G
OV

ER
NA

NC
E 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T F

RA
ME

W
OR

K 
(F
LO

W
CH

AR
T)
 

Appendix 1 

Ce
rti
fic

ati
on

 by
 Le

ad
 M
em

be
r 

an
d C

hie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

 

Page 23



 

 

Page 24



Internal Audit reports identifying significant risk or ‘of concern’: 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE – ELIGIBILITY OF CARE 

 

Audit Committee            Date: 28th September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Nick Hobbs on 
Direct Dial No. 01793 463940 or Email nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk. 

 
Author: Head of Internal Audit 

Wards Affected: None 
Purpose 

Members requested that at least one individual audit report be presented to each 
meeting of the Committee.  This report should be one that has been classified as 
being of ‘significant risk’ or ‘of concern’, if one had been issued since the 
previous meeting of the Committee. If not, then a report would be selected in 
liaison with the Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 
The Chair of the Audit Committee requested that the Internal Audit report on 
Eligibility of Care be presented to the Committee. 
 

 
Recommendation 

• It is recommended that the contents of the report be noted. 
 

 
1 Reasons 

 
1.1 The Council’s Audit Committee has a strategic role to ensure that the 

Council’s assurance framework is operating effectively. To this end it 
should seek assurance that key areas that contribute to this framework 
are operating properly. 

 
1.2 Internal Audit’s terms of reference require that at least one individual 

audit report be submitted to each meeting of the Committee. 
 

1.3 The Chair of the Audit Committee requested that the Internal Audit 
report on Eligibility of Care Manslaughter be presented to the June 
meeting of the Audit Committee.  

 
2 Detail 

 
2.1 A report following the internal audit review of Eligibility of Care (the 

application of current policy in Adult Social Care) was finalised on 16th 
June 2011 and an overall risk assessment of ‘Of Concern’ was given. 
The full report is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
2.2 Key recommendations made in the report to achieve the improvements 

required included: 

Agenda Item 7

Page 25



Internal Audit reports identifying significant risk or ‘of concern’: 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE – ELIGIBILITY OF CARE 

 

Audit Committee            Date: 28th September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Nick Hobbs on 
Direct Dial No. 01793 463940 or Email nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk. 

• Specific assessment criteria, endorsed by case studies for guidance, 
should be put in place to support each of the four key Department of 
Health’s FACS criteria headings i.e. Critical, Substantial, Moderate and 
Low. This should demonstrate a robust and considered decision-making 
process that could withstand appeal and potential legal challenge. 

• The ‘Putting People First’ service and budget review currently being 
undertaken by ASC management for the eligibility of care should include 
evaluating the possible merging of existing sections that provide the 
same, or similar, administrative and financial support for each of the three 
areas i.e. Learning Disabilities, Older People and Physical Difficulties; and 
Mental Health.  All current administrative work should be brought up to 
date.  Work pending action, either by the key worker, manager or 
administrative section, should be closely performance managed and 
tracked with targets to secure signed care plans and financial records 
within a reasonable time i.e. within 8 weeks following approval of the care 
plan. All relevant Council policies and procedures should be reviewed in 
line with agreed service revisions. 

• Rationalise the IT systems and methods for retaining client care and 
financial information and conduct this with the PCT to ensured that a 
unified approach is adopted.  Data cleansing and quality control checks 
should be conducted to ensure that data held by ASC in its systems is 
consistent, complete, correct and up to date.  In the event that client 
information is held in different systems there should be on going checks to 
ensure data integrity. 

• Ensure that efficient administrative arrangements are in place across the 
service to support delivery of agreed processes and to retain relevant 
documentation in an effective manner. 

 
 

Alternative Options 
• Not Applicable 
 

Page 26



Internal Audit reports identifying significant risk or ‘of concern’: 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE – ELIGIBILITY OF CARE 

 

Audit Committee            Date: 28th September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Nick Hobbs on 
Direct Dial No. 01793 463940 or Email nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk. 

Risk Management 
 
Financial and Procurement Implications 
• There are no direct financial implications arising from this report however the 

detailed audit report addresses the suitability of internal controls within the 
systems examined.  

 
Legal/Human Rights Implications 
• Internal Audit is a statutory requirement of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

2011. The Internal Audit service also provides assurance to the Director of 
Finance regarding the requirements of Section 151 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

 
Links to Corporate Plans and Policies  
• Effective systems of internal control within the Council will help to ensure that 

the objectives set out One Swindon are achieved. 
 
 

Consultees  
The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and the Director of Law and Democratic 
Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted on all reports. 
 
Officers as detailed 

 
Appendices / Background papers 

Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Report: Eligibility of Care 
 

Key Decision/Decision in Forward Plan 
• Not Applicable 
 
 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 

Swindon Internal Audit Services  
 

Chief Executive’s 
 
 
 
 

Strictly Private and Confidential 
 

 
 

Eligibility of Care 
(Application of Current Policy on ASC) 

 
 

Report status: Final  

Report date: 16th June 2011 

Report Reference: H&ASC/EC/LS 

Auditor: Raphael Atoyebi - Senior Auditor 

Issued by: Lorraine Sarson - Principal Auditor 

 

 
Page 29



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 2 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

Contents  Page 
Section 1 Executive Summary 4 
Section 2 Introduction 7 
Section 3 Approach 7 
Section 4 Risk Areas Examined  8 
Section 5 Overall Opinion 8 
Section 6 Secure Procedures 10 
Section 7 Acknowledgement 10 
Section 8 Action Plan 11 
 
Appendices: 
A: Standard Audit Opinions 
 
 
Report distribution: 
 
Draft for discussion issued 26th November 2010: 
Ted Wilson Joint Director of Service Delivery 
Chris Wilson Group Finance Manager 
Graham Walker Team Leader-PCT 
John Hughes Head of Services, Social Care Policy and Strategy 
Brian O’Shea Senior Practitioner, North West Community Team 
 

Draft issued 31st January 2011: 
Ted Wilson Joint Director of Service Delivery 
Chris Wilson Group Finance Manager 
Graham Walker Team Leader-PCT 
John Hughes Head of Services, Social Care Policy and Strategy 
Brian O’Shea Senior Practitioner, North West Community Team 
 

Formal Draft issued 16th April 2011: 
Heather Mitchell Group Director Adult Social Care 
Jan Trethewey Acting, Joint Director of Service Delivery 
Chris Wilson Group Finance Manager 
Graham Walker Team Leader-PCT 
John Hughes Head of Services, Social Care Policy and Strategy 
Brian O’Shea Senior Practitioner, North West Community Team 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 3 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

Final issued 16th June 2011: 
Heather Mitchell Group Director Adult Social Care 
Jan Trethewey Acting, Joint Director of Service Delivery 
Chris Wilson Group Finance Manager 
Graham Walker Team Leader-PCT 
John Hughes Head of Services, Social Care Policy and Strategy 
Brian O’Shea Senior Practitioner, North West Community Team 

Page 31



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 4 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 

1 Executive Summary 
 
1.1   The review of Eligibility of Care in Adult Social Care (ASC) was carried out as 

part of the 2010/11 Internal Audit Plan as agreed with, and undertaken on behalf 
of, the Group Director of Adult Social Care. The service provision extends to 
Learning Disabilities (LD), Older People and Physical Disabilities (OPPD), and 
Mental Disability (MD). The audit provides an assessment as to the suitability of 
controls, process and management of the eligibility and application of the current 
policy on Adult Social Care. The key areas reviewed included that: 
• the Council’s policy is aligned to and conforms with the Department of 

Health’s Fair Access to Care Service (FACS) guidelines and criteria. 
• care is provided only to eligible users accessing Adult Social Care. 
• alternative sources of care provision and funding have been considered. 

 
1.2 Eligibility criteria under the FACS framework is graded into four bands of risk to 

assess people’s independence and wellbeing, i.e. Critical, Substantial, Moderate 
and Low risk. 

 
1.3 Eligibility and care assessment is administered under the NHS and Community 

Care Act 1990. There are other Acts which impact on care assessments and 
include; Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000, European Convention of Human 
Rights, Carers (Equal Opportunities) Act 2004 and Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

 
1.4 The Council’s Adult Social Care budget approved for 2010/11 was a net figure of 

£39.88m. However, as at February 2011 there is a projected overspend of £2.2m 
by financial year-end. This represents a significant overspend which has to be 
addressed to ensure that the Council’s overall budget is balanced for the year. 
Discussions at Cabinet meetings during the financial year have focussed on an 
overall review of the service including provision, affordability and funding. The 
total number of service clients receiving care provision was 337 Learning 
Disabilities, 1,327 Older People and Physical Difficulties; and Mental Health 718, 
as at February 2011 (data source – February 2011 Budget Monitoring Report). 

 
1.5     The absence of adequate controls for social care eligibility could result in: 

• breach of statutory responsibilities. 
• inappropriate service provision to users. 
• ineligible users accessing services. 
• lack of coordination with other schemes, agencies and users to ensure 

provision is provided by the appropriate body. 
 
1.6 The Council’s eligibility checklist for assessment of risk to a person’s 

independence incorporates the four key Department of Health’s risk criteria 
headings. However, there is a lack of specific criteria and use of case studies to 
support and direct the risk assessment for each of the identified risk factors 
underneath these headings i.e. health and safety, autonomy, management of 
daily routine and involvement in family and wider community life. In the absence 
of robust assessment criteria there is potential for care to be provided at a higher 
or lesser level than necessary.  There is also a lack of clarity between what 

Page 32



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 5 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

essential care must be provided as a minimum at each level and what care 
constitutes as ‘nice to do’.  The lack of clarity in the FACS criteria applied by the 
Council provides the opportunity for local interpretation, which could result in 
client claims for unfair determination of care with legal challenge against the 
Council.  This position severely compromises the ability to deliver the service 
within the designated 2010/11 budget, which is overspending, in turn challenging 
the Council’s ability to achieve an overall balanced budget. 

 
1.7   Client information is held between two IT systems i.e. Liquid-logic for care 

assessment and Swift for client and financial information. The completeness and 
accuracy of this information is not reliable as there are inconsistencies between 
records held in the different systems. The data quality in these systems is not 
managed effectively to ensure that it can be relied on to provide accurate 
information for analysis and decision-making.  IT systems reporting of incomplete 
client information was evident but unfortunately this was put to one side by 
administrative service whilst staff resources were directed to high priority service 
needs.  A sample of client files tested during the audit was found to be 
incomplete, missing signed copies of care assessments and Central West 
Swindon client files tested had no documentation retained on them.   

 
1.8      Administrative workloads and available staffing with the required knowledge/skills 

where not balanced at the time of audit.  Backlogs were evident in filing together 
with input of 20 closures and 33 new referrals pending processing.  Gaps in 
administrative service provision were apparent, in the office roster and on going, 
with remaining staff struggling or unable to manage all aspects of the service.  In 
Clarence House the Principal Auditor observed on 11th January 2011 many piles 
of files pending action by the relevant key worker or manager, this situation also 
made it difficult to track case files during testing, especially as a spreadsheet for 
this purpose was not sufficiently up to date.   

 
1.9      Significant improvements are required to ensure that that the eligibility and 

assessment framework for Adult Social Care meets its statutory obligations, can 
withstand scrutiny and challenge and be deliverable within budget. The overall 
assessment of risk to the Council is considered as ‘Of Concern’. 

 
1.10 The following key recommendations require urgent implementation to address 

issues identified in this report: 
• Specific assessment criteria, endorsed by case studies for guidance, should 

be put in place to support each of the four key Department of Health’s FACS 
criteria headings i.e. Critical, Substantial, Moderate and Low. This should 
demonstrate a robust and considered decision-making process that could 
withstand appeal and potential legal challenge. 

• The ‘Putting People First’ service and budget review currently being 
undertaken by ASC management for the eligibility of care should include 
evaluating the possible merging of existing sections that provide the same, or 
similar, administrative and financial support for each of the three areas i.e. 
Learning Disabilities, Older People and Physical Difficulties; and Mental 
Health.  All current administrative work should be brought up to date.  Work 
pending action, either by the key worker, manager or administrative section, 
should be closely performance managed and tracked with targets to secure 
signed care plans and financial records within a reasonable time i.e. within 8 

Page 33



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 6 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

weeks following approval of the care plan. All relevant Council policies and 
procedures should be reviewed in line with agreed service revisions. 

• Ensure that efficient administrative arrangements are in place across the 
service to support delivery of agreed processes and to retain relevant 
documentation in an effective manner. 

• Rationalise the IT systems and methods for retaining client care and financial 
information and conduct this with the PCT to ensured that a unified approach 
is adopted.  Data cleansing and quality control checks should be conducted to 
ensure that data held by ASC in its systems is consistent, complete, correct 
and up to date.  In the event that client information is held in different systems 
there should be on going checks to ensure data integrity. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 34



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 7 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

2 Introduction 
 
2.1 The provision of Adult Social Care is subject to the assessment and prioritisation 

of people’s needs using the eligibility criteria prescribed by the Department of 
Health, as set out in its Fair Access of Care Service (FACS) guidelines 
introduced in 2003. 

 
2.2  FACS has now been superseded by ‘Putting People First’ 2007, and further 

endorsed by the Care and Support Green Paper 2009, which promote 
personalised support through ability to exercise choice and prevention, early 
intervention and support for carers. They also state that in setting eligibility 
criteria for social care, Councils should consider their strategy for investing in a 
more universal approach that prevents or delays the need for more specialist 
social care interventions. 

 
2.3 The Putting People First directive means investing in universal services, early 

intervention and prevention and offering choice. 
 
2.4  This audit looks to provide assurance that the Council has effective systems and 

controls in place, at both a corporate and service level, to comply with the 
Department of Health’s FACS (Fair Access to Care Service) guidelines on Adult 
Social Care Eligibility Criteria and the application of the Councils policy in 
assessing and delivering client care.  

 
2.5 The computer system used for recording the administration, assessment, care 

planning, reviews and management of adult social care cases is called SWIFT. 
Liquid-Logic is another system used to record client information including that 
used in the care assessment process. Documentation that supports entries in 
client electronic records is held in individual client paper case files.   Documents 
should include i.e. approved care plans, assessments, notes of reviews and 
correspondence.   

 
 
3 Approach 
 

3.1 Managers determine the extent of internal control in their systems and are 
responsible for providing an environment that ensures that resources are 
properly applied, value for money is secured, fraud and other losses prevented, 
and the Council’s Financial Regulations are complied with.  

 

3.2 Internal Audit, as a service to the Directorate and the Council as a whole, 
contributes to internal control by examining and evaluating its adequacy and 
effectiveness. The auditor’s responsibility is to form an independent opinion, 
based on the audit work undertaken, on the reliability of the systems of internal 
control, risk management and governance reviewed and report this to the Group 
Director of Adult Social Care and the Joint Director of Provider Services (ASC). 

 
3.3 In accordance with best practice, a risk-based approach was adopted that 

identified the key risks to the business objectives and those mitigating 
actions/controls that should be in place. The auditor then assessed the 

Page 35



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 8 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

effectiveness of the mitigating controls through examination of relevant 
documents, procedures and detailed testing.  

 
3.4 The appropriate managers and senior staff were consulted during the course of 

the review, and examination and testing of relevant documentation and 
procedures took place within departments.  

 
 
4 Risk Areas Examined 
 
4.1 The key risks to the achievement of the business objectives were discussed and 

agreed with the Group Director of Adult Social Care and the Joint Director of 
Provider Services (ASC) before the commencement of the audit. The table below 
summarises the Risk Areas examined during the review and provides an 
assessment of the adequacy of the mitigating controls in place for each area of 
risk examined:  

 
 

Risk Area Examined Audit Conclusion re. 
mitigating controls 

• Breach of Department of Health’s (FACS) guidelines on 
Adult Social Care Eligibility Criteria 

Significant Improvement  
Required 

• Potential users may not be aware of the service. Satisfactory 
• An ineligible user accessed the service they are not 

entitled. 
Significant Improvement  

Required 
 
 
5 Overall Opinion 
 
5.1 Materiality and impact: High. The impact and materiality in the event of 

inappropriate Adult Social Care criteria being set and applied by the Council to 
clients would be significant.  Clients could be exposed to unacceptable risk and 
the Council subject to legal action for negligence with intervention by the 
Department of Health.  This would bring adverse publicity and reputational 
damage. 

 
5.2 Opinion on system controls: Significant improvement required i.e. the 

auditor completing the review concluded that existing procedures needed to be 
improved to ensure that they are fully reliable. A number of significant 
recommendations have been made to improve missing or failing controls 

 
5.3 Overall assessment of risk: the combination of the high impact of the system, 

along with the opinion on the system controls gives an overall risk assessment to 
the Council as being Of Concern: 

 
 
 

Page 36



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 9 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 MATERIALITY AND IMPACT 
SYSTEM CONTROL High Medium Low 

1 High standard Moderate Minimal Minimal 

2 Satisfactory Moderate Moderate Minimal 

3 Significant Improvements 
required Of Concern Moderate Moderate 

4 Fundamental weaknesses 
identified  Significant Of Concern Moderate 

 
5.4 The following key recommendations should be implemented in order to achieve 

the improvements required:   
• Specific assessment criteria, endorsed by case studies for guidance, should 

be put in place to support each of the four key Department of Health’s FACS 
criteria headings i.e. Critical, Substantial, Moderate and Low. This should 
demonstrate a robust and considered decision-making process that could 
withstand appeal and potential legal challenge. 

• The ‘Putting People First’ service and budget review currently being 
undertaken by ASC management for the eligibility of care should include 
evaluating the possible merging of existing sections that provide the same, or 
similar, administrative and financial support for each of the three areas i.e. 
Learning Disabilities, Older People and Physical Difficulties; and Mental 
Health.  All current administrative work should be brought up to date.  Work 
pending action, either by the key worker, manager or administrative section, 
should be closely performance managed and tracked with targets to secure 
signed care plans and financial records within a reasonable time i.e. within 8 
weeks following approval of the care plan. All relevant Council policies and 
procedures should be reviewed in line with agreed service revisions. 

• Rationalise the IT systems and methods for retaining client care and financial 
information and conduct this with the PCT to ensured that a unified approach 
is adopted.  Data cleansing and quality control checks should be conducted to 
ensure that data held by ASC in its systems is consistent, complete, correct 
and up to date.  In the event that client information is held in different systems 
there should be on going checks to ensure data integrity. 

• Ensure that efficient administrative arrangements are in place across the 
service to support delivery of agreed processes and to retain relevant 
documentation in an effective manner. 

 
5.5 Management’s response to the Internal Audit recommendations is included in 

section 8 of the report. 
 

Page 37



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 10 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

5.6 All of the matters arising are detailed in the action plan, together with suitable 
recommendations, together with an indication as to whether the matters arising 
are of a high, medium or low priority. The action plan provides a checklist of the 
findings of the review, potential consequences, and identifies officers responsible 
for implementing the recommendations and appropriate time-scales.  

 
 
6 Secure Procedures 
 
6.1 It was noted that the following secure procedures are now an integral part of the 

Adult Social Care system: 
• Swindon policy and Adult Social Care eligibility criteria conform to the 

Department of Health’s Fair Access to Care Service (FACS) guidelines. 
• Services were provided only to eligible users for the cases examined during 

this review.  
 
 

7 Acknowledgement 
 
7.1 Internal Audit would like to acknowledge and thank the following Officers who 

contributed to the review: 
 

Name Job title 
Jan Trethewey Acting, Joint Director of Service Delivery 
Ted Wilson Joint Director of Service Delivery 
Graham Walker Team Leader - PCT 
Belinda Downing Head of Service Care Closer to Home 
Chris Wilson Group Finance Manager: Housing and Adult Social Care 
John Hughes Head of Service: Social Care, Policy and Strategy 
Avril Brown Senior Administrative Officer 

Page 38



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 11   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 Section 8: Action Plan  

The purpose of this action plan is to provide a summary of the matters arising during the audit of Eligibility of Care, together with the recommendations to mitigate 
risks, the manager’s response to the recommendations, along with the officer responsible and timescale for implementation. In order for you to identify the most 
significant matters arising, which affect the reliance that can be placed on the controls reviewed, the recommendations have been prioritised. 
 

Ref. 
 

Finding Recommendations 
Priority (High/Medium/Low) 

Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

1 Breach of Department of Health’s (FACS) guidelines on Adult Social Care Eligibility Criteria 
1.1 Fair Access to Care Services (FACS) Risk Criteria 

The Council’s eligibility checklist for assessment of 
risk to the person’s independence incorporates the 
four key Department of Health’s criteria headings, i.e. 
Critical, Substantial, Moderate and Low. However, 
there is a lack of specific criteria to support the risk 
assessment for each of the identified risk factors 
underneath these headings i.e. health and safety, 
autonomy, management of daily routine and 
involvement in family and wider community life. 
Consequently, there is lack of clarity and potential 
inconsistency in the assessment of people’s care 
needs.  
 
The FACS used to assess people’s risk of 
independence does not provide visibility of approach / 
consideration of circumstances to demonstrate 
consistency of assessment and fairness of outcome. 
 
Associated Risk: 
In the event of challenge of statutory responsibilities 
for Adult Social Care (ASC) provision the Council 
could be liable for inadequate service. Conversely, 
over provision may go undetected impacting on the 
Council’s budget. 

Specific care assessment criteria, endorsed by 
case studies for guidance, should be put in place 
to support each of the four key Department of 
Health’s criteria headings. This should include: 
• stating the clarity between ‘Must Do’ and 

‘Nice To Do’ in applying the FACS criteria,  
• supporting the FACS criteria with case 

studies to clearly see where eligibility really 
fits for each risk factor (i.e. health and safety, 
autonomy, daily routines, and involvement in 
wider community life) to more clearly 
distinguish between each of the four risk 
criteria. This would help to demonstrate a 
robust and considered decision-making 
process that could withstand potential legal 
challenge.  It would also mitigate potential 
over provision of care and related costs. 

 
Priority: High 

Joint Director of 
Service 
Delivery 
 
31st August 
2011 

Agreed.  Any policy decision to review the 
provision of care against the FACS criteria 
categories would be presented to Cabinet 
for consideration and approval. 
 
Potential risks are now minimised through 
new working procedures with brokerage / 
commissioning department and also though 
all cases with the exception of residential 
and nursing going through Personalisation 
Route Process. 
 
Important to note that the audit found that 
“Services were provided only to eligible 
users for the cases examined during the 
review” (Page 9 Section 6) 
 
There was a already a funding panel set up 
in LD which was making decision on any 
funded packages which has been running 
for over a year. 
  
Actions planned and taken minimises 
risk to acceptable level:  � 
 
 

 
 

P
age 39



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 12   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
 

Ref. 
 

Finding Recommendations 
Priority (High/Medium/Low) 

Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

1 Breach of Department of Health’s (FACS) guidelines on Adult Social Care Eligibility Criteria 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The service is in a significant period of change 
due to Government Directives such as ‘Putting 
People First’ being issued and the pressures on 
the budgets.   
 
The Adult Social Care service is split across 
people with Learning Disabilities, Older People 
and Physical Difficulties; and Mental Health.   
 
The key factors raised in Putting People First 
which have yet to be taken into account in the 
current service delivery review include: 
• standardisation of the key process/stages 
• Government directives on prevention and 

early intervention 
• investment in universal services,  
• choice and control and social capital. 
• affordability 
• good practice for service transformation 
 
Associated Risk: 
Failure to meet government and transformation 
agenda and service user expectations on Adult 
Social Care. 
 

As part of the service review and revision of 
the SBC policy and procedures currently 
being undertaken by ASC, management 
should ensure that this exercise evaluates the 
following: 
• Standardisation of the key processes / 
stages for LD, OPPD and MH on Initial 
Call-Taking, Screening and prioritisation of 
referrals and enquiries, Care and Financial 
Assessments.    Where possible evaluate 
merging existing sections that provide the 
same, or similar, administrative and 
financial support. 

• In addition to dealing with the highest need 
clients to include emphasis on prevention 
and early intervention and support for 
carers i.e. helping people live at home 
independently and preventing them from 
needing social care support for as long as 
possible. 

• Investment in universal services (i.e. 
general support available to everyone 
within the community), early intervention, 
choice and control (i.e. giving people a 
clear understanding of the cost of their 
care and support and allowing them to 
choose how to use the funds to best suit 
their needs and preferences), and social 
capital (i.e. fostering strong and supportive 
communities that value contribution to 

Joint Director 
of Service 
Delivery 
 
31st August 
2011 

Agreed.  Care and Support Partnership 
are currently looking into streamlining 
and standardising process. 
 
Process mapping has been carried out 
by the Business Change Team and 
revised referral routes and management 
of individuals throughout the system 
have already been reviewed and 
adapted. 
 
We now have the Single Point of 
Access (SPA) up and running and have 
revised the management structures of 
the OPPD team into one structure. 
 
There are clear pathways through the 
re-ablement service into the ‘community 
hub’ (Long term care) for OPPD and PD 
 
Commissioning are already embracing 
this agenda through relevant 
Partnership Boards. 
 
Actions planned and taken 
minimises risk to acceptable level:  � 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 13   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
Ref. 

 
Finding Recommendations 

Priority (High/Medium/Low) 
Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

 
1.2 
cont. 

each citizen) so to endorse ‘Putting People 
First’. 

• ASC  transformation process should 
evaluate and take forward relevant good 
practice, such as that set out in the guide 
on Transformation of Adult Social Care’ 
published by the IDeA (Information & 
Development Agency) – July 2010. This 
includes a section on ’10 Questions to ask 
if you are scrutinising the transformation of 
Adult Social Care’. 

 
Priority: High 

 
External consultants have been 
engaged and have been advising on 
best practice and process for 
personalisation Agenda. 
 
Pilots were run last year and all eligible 
cases are now processed through 
Personalisation route as from 
December 2010.  
 
Actions planned and taken 
minimises risk to acceptable level:  � 

P
age 41



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 14   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
Ref. 

 
Finding Recommendations 

Priority (High/Medium/Low) 
Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

2 An ineligible user accessed the service to which they are not entitled. 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recording Systems 
The Borough operates two IT systems to manage and 
retain client and financial information (i.e. Swift and 
Liquid-logic) as well as manual case files and Word 
documents retained on the shared drive.  These 
systems are stand alone to those operated by the 
Primary Care Trust. 
These systems are totally independent of each other 
and none is considered or agreed to prevail over the 
other. The data on these systems is not reconciled or 
matched to ensure it is complete, correct or up to 
date. 
The completeness and accuracy of this information is 
not reliable as there are inconsistencies between the 
records held in the different systems. The data quality 
in these systems is not managed effectively to ensure 
that it can be relied on to provide accurate information 
for analysis and decision-making. Given the critical 
position in which the service finds itself at this time, 
i.e. high demand and budget pressures, an accurate 
overview of the Adult Social Care service is not readily 
available upon which to conduct a review.  
Current record quality assurance processes are not 
operating effectively due to staffing issues. 
Associated Risk: 
Incorrect care decisions made. 
Incorrect data may be transferred to other interfaced 
systems or external organisations. 
 

Rationalise the IT systems and methods for 
retaining client care and financial information to 
ensure that reliable, up to date and complete 
records are maintained in a timely and cost 
effective manner. This rationalisation should be 
conducted with the PCT to provide a unified 
system approach and ensure pooled funding and 
benefits are identified to maximise joined up 
working.  Future systems should have capacity 
and capability of moving to a decoupled working 
arrangement i.e. Social Enterprise from 1st April 
2011. 
 
Staff management of files should be minimised 
with automatic document tracking to indicate the 
status /stage of client care.  Performance 
management and escalation procedures should 
be reviewed to ensure that targets are 
implemented and performance managed.  This to 
ensure that required actions are satisfactorily 
completed at relevant stages. 
 
Data cleansing and quality control checks should 
be conducted to ensure that data held by ASC in 
paper/electronic systems is consistent, complete, 
correct and up to date.  In the event that client 
information is held in different systems there 
should be on going checks to ensure data 
integrity. 
 
 
 
Priority: High 
 

Joint Director of 
Service 
Delivery 
 
31st August 
2011 
 
 

Agreed.  This is being dealt with the current 
IT review, which has now been signed off, 
by both SBC and the PCT. 
 
A project group is in place to implement the 
changes. 
 
Whilst both a paper system and IT system 
continues to be in place – this will remain a 
risk area as we are trying to reduce 
duplication. 
 
Liquid logic was turned off on 31st March 
and will have read only access for 6 months 
 
Staff are being instructed to use the IT 
system as a first record wherever possible 
and also use the IT system to signpost to 
any additional paper records that may exist. 
Consequently we do not expect the IT 
system and paper records to hold the same 
information. 
 
There is already a paper record audit in 
place and both LD and OPPD have met the 
audit standards to a satisfactory level. 
 
The performance team carries out electronic 
data/records quality checks and regular 
performance review meetings are held 
(monthly).   
 
Actions planned and taken minimises 
risk to acceptable level:  � 
 

P
age 42



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 15   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
 

Ref. 
 

Finding Recommendations 
Priority (High/Medium/Low) 

Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

2 An ineligible user accessed the service to which they are not entitled. 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current care plans were not present for 5 of 6 
client files tested.   
 
A checklist has been devised as part of a quality 
assurance process to ensure that client files are 
complete, up to date and provides a tracking 
status.  However, 2 of the 6 files reviewed 
(Central West Clients) had files with a checklist 
and file dividers to match, but no information was 
retained on files.  2 further files had no checklists 
and were not ordered using standard named 
dividers.  The remaining 2 files had checklists 
and relevant dividers with records ordered, only 
one contained a current care plan and this was 
not signed as approved by all parties. 
 
Tracking of files issued from filing cabinets 
should be controlled through a spreadsheet, but 
this was found to be out of date for files tested.  
Consequently, Administrative Officers searched 
stacks of files in various locations within Clarence 
House.  These files were pending action by key 
workers, managers or administrative staff.   
 
It was observed that where care plans had been 
sent for signature to a key worker, manager or 
the client and not returned, action was not taken 
to progress and secure signed care plans.  It was 
not possible to establish the number of care 
plans for current client that had been completed 
or were in the process of being approved and the 

Resources should be allocated to assist the 
administration service in clearing a backlog of 
work and bring together a comprehensive 
client record for each ASC client.  Client 
information should be collated within paper 
files as per the designated checklist and files 
put away in storage cabinets. 
 
An approved and current care plan must be 
secured to support and manage client care 
provision and recharging, where applicable.  
Priority must be given to resolving this issue 
to ensure that records provide evidence of 
relevant and necessary actions taken to 
safeguard clients. 
 
Managers and Heads of Service must make 
sure that administrative staffing numbers, 
provision of staff across the working week 
and mix of necessary knowledge is adequate 
to meet the administrative service roster.   
This should ensure that: 
• services are effectively delivered in a 

front-line care provision that services 
potentially vulnerable citizens. 

• bottle necks in work are minimised, 
• staff are not exposed to levels of work 

and demands which are overly 
challenging. 

 
 

Joint Director 
of Service 
Delivery 
 
31st August 
2011 

Recommendations agreed.   
New processes ensure that a care plan 
is in place prior to funding being agreed. 
Care plans are most frequently held 
electronically.  Normal practice is that 
SWIFT signposts to this held on the 
shared drive. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This work will be being carried out as 
part of the admin review and 
consolidation of job descriptions. 
 
The performance indicators which track  
Contact to assessment and assessment 
to implementation are all being met. 
 
Part of the admin review work currently 
being undertaken. 
 
Actions planned and taken 
minimises risk to acceptable level:  � 
 
 

P
age 43



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 16   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
Ref. 

 
Finding Recommendations 

Priority (High/Medium/Low) 
Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

2.2 
cont. 

stage of approval reached. 
At the time of audit testing there was a build up of 
other administrative work pending action i.e. 20 
closures and 33 new referrals.   
 
There was a very high level of staff absence, 
either due to sickness or leave.  This coupled 
with part-time staff working hours, which were not 
staggered over the day meant the administrative 
team was below critical mass with priority of staff 
resources directed to answering telephone calls 
for requests for care.  The work roster had gaps 
in coverage and 2 administrative officers 
remained to prioritise work.  However, 
realistically there were too many competing 
priorities. 
 

 
A quality assurance process should be 
implemented with independent checks 
conducted of files i.e. for completeness, order 
and accuracy as per the file checklist.  This 
should include checks to the client Swift 
record to ensure all relevant records are 
maintained and up to date for the making of 
decisions at key stages and payments. 
 
Evaluate and implement the best means of 
performance monitoring the status and 
number of client care plans pending complete 
sign off by the key worker, manager and 
client to ensure prompt completion. 
 
Priority: High 
 

 
Part of admin review and lean systems 
approach currently being undertaken.  
 
Safeguarding and paper files have been 
audited under SBC process by the 
Head of Service Social Care (Policy) 
and Safeguarding lead.  There were 
minor issues to be addressed, which 
have been actioned. 
 
This will fit with the lean process work 
and also IT strategy which aims to 
reduce administration and duplication 
 
Actions planned and taken 
minimises risk to acceptable level:  � 
 

P
age 44



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 17   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
Ref. 

 
Finding Recommendations 

Priority (High/Medium/Low) 
Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

2 An ineligible user accessed the service to which they are not entitled. 
2.3 Contact Assessment, or referrals are, initially 

screened then FACS risk assessed, by either the 
Contact or Assistance Team for OPPD and MH 
cases, or by the First Response Team for LD 
cases. 
 
From a review of the system controls it was 
observed that there is no evidence in place to 
demonstrate supervisory review on contact 
requests or referrals recorded. This would ensure 
that cases are appropriately screened / risk 
assessed. Therefore there is potential for an 
eligible users being denied care i.e. 
determinations of ‘Moderate’ and ‘Low’ criteria 
that should have been assessed as ‘Critical’ or 
‘Substantial’. 
 
It is acknowledged that this control is present in 
assessments, which are deemed Critical or 
Substantial. 
 
Associated Risk: 
Incorrect care decisions made and reporting may 
also be inaccurate. 
 

The Team Manager should conduct a 
periodic sample of Contact Assessments or 
referrals rated, as ‘Moderate’ or ‘Low’, to 
ensure cases are correctly screened FACS 
risk assessed.  
 
Evidence of this check should be recorded on 
a printed copy of the relevant documents and 
retained on a quality assurance file. 
 
Priority: Medium 
 

Joint Director 
of Service 
Delivery 
 
31st August 
2011 

Agreed.  All funded care packages are 
going through brokerage / 
commissioning and detail rational for 
FACS status which is routinely 
discussed and questioned.  
 
Minutes and records are kept of all 
funded packages and have been from 
last year in LD and more recently in 
OPPD. 
 
Actions planned and taken 
minimises risk to acceptable level:  � 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 45



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 18   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
Ref. 

 
Finding Recommendations 

Priority (High/Medium/Low) 
Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

2 An ineligible user accessed the service to which they are not entitled. 
2.4 It was established that both PCT and SBC 

Commissioning are represented at the Funding 
panels for LD cases. However, this is not the 
case for OPPD and MH cases. 
 
Associated Risk:  
Lack of scrutiny and challenge by funding bodies 
 

A representative from the PCT should be 
present at Funding panels for OPPD and MH 
cases, so as to give a balanced view and 
opportunity to challenge costing and funding. 
 
Priority: Medium 
 

Joint Director 
of Service 
Delivery 
 
31st August 
2011 

Agreed.  Commissioning led funding 
arrangements now in place. 
 
Actions planned and taken 
minimises risk to acceptable level:  � 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 46



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 19   Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

 
Ref. 

 
Finding Recommendations 

Priority (High/Medium/Low) 
Responsible 
Officer and 
Timescale 

 
Management Response 

3 Lack of coordination with other schemes and agencies 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Benchmarking of Activities: 
There are several National Performance Indicators 
(NI) for ASC. Ones relevant to this review are N132 
[measuring the timeliness of care assessment] and 
N133 [for timeliness of care packages following 
assessment]. These achieved 87% against 91% target 
and 88.5% against 92.5% target respectively, as at 
end of 2009/10.  
The underlying activities, as set out below, are not 
benchmarked with other Authorities or compared 
internally between ASC teams to identify potential 
improvements/efficiencies.   
The ASC teams within the Council do not operate 
standard or consistent approaches across all service 
provisions i.e.  
• specific criteria and examples of tested care 

provision fit within the FACS assessment 
process. 

• whether or not options for care packages and for 
funding are considered for each client. 

• whether or not the decisions made on a sample 
of cases assessed are exchanged with other LAs 
to see if same decisions would have been arrived 
at. 

• is an average cost or limit cost of care set for 
OP/PD/MH/LD cases. 

 
Associated Risk:  
Unable top demonstrate best practice and effective 
use of resources. 
 

ASC Teams should compare care provision and 
working arrangements internally across the ASC 
services to identify potential improvements / 
efficiencies for the service and its users as a 
whole, including the areas identified below. 
 
ASC activities and decisions should be 
benchmarked externally with Local Authorities 
across the country, not just within the south west 
region, for the OP, PD, MH and LD services, 
including the areas identified below. 
 
Areas to benchmark/seek best practice: 
• specific criteria and examples of tested care 

provision fit within the FACS assessment 
process. 

• whether or not options for care packages and 
for funding are considered for each client. 

• whether or not the decisions made on a 
sample of cases assessed are exchanged 
with other LAs to see if same decisions 
would have been arrived at. 

• is an average cost or limit cost of care is set 
for OP/PD/MH/LD cases. 

 
 
 Priority: Medium 

Joint Director 
of Service 
Delivery 
 
31st August 
2011 

Agreed.  External consultants have been 
working with Swindon who have advised on 
areas to improve and also areas, which 
Swindon is considered to be leading on. 
 
Finance related recommendations have all 
been addressed through the Personalisation 
Agenda. 
 
 
Actions planned and taken 
minimises risk to acceptable level:  � 
 

 

P
age 47



Final - Internal Audit Report – Eligibility of Care 
 

12/09/2011 20 Swindon Internal Audit Services 
 

 

APPENDIX A 
  

Standard Audit Opinions 
 
1. The audit opinion is based on two different criteria the first is the materiality of 

the system and it’s impact on the Council if there was a system failure. This 
has been spilt into High, Medium or Low.   

 
2. The second criteria, is the standard of control found within the system audited. 

This has been categorised into 4 different levels i.e. high; satisfactory; 
significant improvements required and, fundamental weakness. Each of these 
categories has a standard opinion (see below).  

 
 

3. The combination of these two factors gives an overall risk assessment to the 
Council of one of four scores i.e. significant, of concern, moderate or minimal 
(see section 4 of the main report). 

 
 

 
Standard Audit Opinions on System Control 

 
Audit Opinion 1.  High Standard 
The auditor completing the review concluded the significant system controls are 
in place and operating effectively and only minor recommendations have been 
made. 
 
 
Audit Opinion 2.  Satisfactory Standard 
The auditor completing the review concluded that most of the significant controls 
are in place and operating satisfactorily although some non-compliance was 
identified and therefore there is scope for improvement.  
 
 
Audit Opinion 3. Significant Improvements Required 
The auditor completing the review concluded that existing procedures needed to 
be improved to ensure that they are fully reliable. A number of significant 
recommendations have been made to improve missing or failing controls. 
 
 
Audit Opinion 4.  Fundamental Weaknesses Identified 
The auditor completing the review concluded that the matters arising from the 
review are sufficiently significant to place doubt on the reliability of the 
procedures reviewed. Implementation of the recommendations made is a priority 
to ensure that reliance can be placed on the system. 
 

Page 48



Anti-Fraud & Bribery Strategy and Whistleblowing Procedure  
 

Audit Committee 20 September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Nick Hobbs on 
01793 463940 or Email nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk 

 
Author: Head of Internal Audit 
 
Parish / Wards Affected: All 
 
 

Purpose 
 

To inform Members that the Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy, Whistleblowing Policy 
and Fraud Response Plan has been reviewed and will go to Standards Committee in 
October for approval. Any comments from Members on the Strategy and associated 
documents would be welcome  
 
 
 

Recommendation 
 

• That Audit Committee review the strategy, whistleblowing policy and fraud 
response plan and make any recommendations regarding any necessary 
changes. 

 

 
 
1. Reasons 
 

1.1 To ensure that the Council’s Policies on Anti-Fraud and Bribery and 
Whistleblowing are up-to-date and reflect best practice. 

 
1.2 To ensure that Members and officers are made aware of how to identify 

the types of fraud, how it occurs, indicators of potential fraud and how to 
respond if it is discovered. 

 
2. Detail 

2.1 The Council controls millions of pounds of public money and takes very 
seriously the high expectations of the public and the degree of scrutiny to 
which the affairs of the Council are subject. 

 
2.2 In carrying out its functions and responsibilities the Council wishes to 

promote a culture of openness and fairness and expects that elected 
members and employees at all levels will adopt the highest standards of 
propriety and accountability. The Council also wishes to promote a zero-
tolerance to fraud and bribery. Proper accountability, achieved through 
probity, internal control and honest administration is therefore essential. 

 
2.3 The Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy sets out measures designed to 

frustrate any attempted fraudulent or corrupt acts and the steps to be 
taken if such action occurs. 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 49



Anti-Fraud & Bribery Strategy and Whistleblowing Procedure  
 

Audit Committee 20 September 2011 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Nick Hobbs on 
01793 463940 or Email nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk 

2.4 The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy supports the Strategy and makes it 
clear that concerns can be raised without the fear of reprisals. It is 
intended to encourage and enable employees, Members and Governors 
to raise serious concerns within the Council, irrespective of seniority, rank 
or status, rather than overlooking a problem or reporting the matter 
externally. 

 
2.5 The Internal Audit section has also developed a Fraud Response Plan and 

Fraud Awareness Guide. 
 
2.6 All of the above documents are attached as appendices. 

 
2.7 The Strategy will go to the Council’s Standards Committee for approval in 

October 2011. Members of the Audit Committee are invited to comment 
on the Strategy prior to that meeting. 

 
 
Alternative Options 
None 
 
 

Risk Management  
 
Financial and Procurement Implications 
• There are no direct financial or procurement implications. The cost of carrying out 

any investigations is currently borne by the Monitoring Officer or Internal Audit’s 
budget.  

 
Legal / Human Rights Implications 
• The policies and procedures have been written to take account of the Public 

Interest Disclosure Act 1998 and takes account of other relevant legislation such 
as the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Local Government Act 
1972 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011. 

 
Links to Corporate Plans and Policies  
• Effective systems of internal control within the Council will help to ensure that the 

Council’s objectives are achieved. 
 
Consultees 
• The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and Democratic 

Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted in respect of all reports. 
 
Background Papers and Appendices 
• Appendix 1: Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
• Appendix 2: Whistleblowing Policy 
• Appendix 3: Fraud Response Plan 
 

Page 50



 
SWINDON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
 

ANTI 
FRAUD and BRIBERY 

 
STRATEGY 

 
 
 
 

Approved by: Standards Committee 
 

 
 

Valid from: October 2011 
 

 
 

Strategy Principles 
 

• The Council expects the highest standards of probity and integrity from 
Members and officers when commissioning, delivering services or 
managing resources. 

• The Council will design and implement appropriate policies and systems 
to mitigate fraud. 

• The Council will not hesitate to take the appropriate action against 
Members and officers proven to have committed fraud, including taking 
legal action. 

• Any fraud or corruption hurts the people the Council provides services for 
– the people of Swindon especially the elderly and the vulnerable. 

Page 51



Contents 
 
 Page Number 
1.    Introduction 1 
2.    Definition of Fraud, Bribery and Theft 1 
3.    Culture 2 
4.    Key Principles 3 
5.    Elected Members’ Responsibilities 3 
6.    Officers’ Responsibilities 4 
7.    Managers’ Responsibilities 4 
8.    Conflicts of Interest 5 
9.    Internal Audit’s Responsibilities 5 
10.  Benefits Investigation Team’s Responsibilities 6 
11.  The role of External Audit 6 
12.  Measures to minimise the risk of fraud 6 
13.  Detection and Investigation 8 
14.  Action taken when fraud has been proved 8 
15.  Awareness and Training 9 
16.  Monitoring of Policy 9 
17.  Conclusion 10 
Appendices:  
1. Whistleblowing Policy  
2. Managers’ Fraud Response Plan  

Page 52



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 1  
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 In carrying out its functions and responsibilities the Council promotes a culture of 

openness and fairness and expects that Members and officers adopt the highest 
standards of propriety and accountability. Proper accountability, achieved through 
probity, internal control and honest administration is essential. 

 
1.2 The Council needs to maintain constant vigilance in order to safeguard the 

resources to which we are entrusted and protect our reputation. We must raise 
awareness, deter and identify fraud and, at the same time, provide mechanisms for 
officers to raise legitimate concerns when they feel justified. Hence the need for 
this strategy. 

 
1.3 The principles outlined in this strategy apply to Members and officers of the 

Council including school based staff. They demonstrate to the community of 
Swindon, our commitment to the prevention, detection and investigation of all 
forms of fraud and corruption wherever it is found. 

 
1.4 The Council expects partner organisations and contractors to act towards the 

Council with honesty and integrity. 
 
1.5 This strategy document sets out measures designed to frustrate any attempted 

fraudulent or corrupt acts and the steps to be taken if such action occurs or is 
suspected. 

 
1.6 This strategy will be reviewed at least annually. 
 
 

2. Definitions of Fraud, Bribery and Theft 
 
2.1 Fraud – the Fraud Act 2006 established a new general offence of fraud that can be 

committed in three ways – by false representation, by failing to disclose information 
and by abuse of position. It also establishes a number of specific offences to assist 
in the fight against fraud – these include an offence of possessing articles for use 
in fraud and an offence of making or supplying articles for use in fraud.  
• Fraud by false representation: a person is in breach of this section if this is 

done dishonestly and there is intent, by making the representation, to make a 
gain for themselves or another; or to cause or expose the risk of loss to 
another. 

• Fraud by failing to disclose information:  a person is in breach of this 
section if he dishonestly fails to disclose to another person information which he 
is under a legal duty to disclose; and intends by failing to do so, make a gain for 
themselves or another; or to cause or expose the risk of loss to another. 

• Fraud by abuse of position: a person is in breach of this section if he 
occupies a position in which he is expected to safeguard, or not to act against, 
the financial interests of another person; dishonestly abuses that position with 

Page 53



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 2  
 

the intention to make a gain for themselves or another; or to cause or expose 
the risk of loss to another. 

 
2.2 Bribery – the Bribery Act 2010, which came into force on July 1st 2011, introduced 

a new anti bribery code and repeals all previous legislation. It creates four new 
offences. 
• Paying bribes – it is an offence to offer or give financial or other advantage 

with the intention of inducing a person to perform improperly a relevant function 
or activity, or to reward a person for the improper performance of such activity 
or function. 

• Receiving bribes – where a person receives or accepts a financial or other 
advantage to perform a function or activity improperly. It does not matter 
whether the recipient of the bribe receives it directly or through a third party, or 
whether it is for the recipient’s ultimate benefit. 

• A corporate offence of failure to prevent bribery - a commercial 
organisation could be guilty of bribery where a person associated with the 
organisation, such as an employee, agent or even a sub-contractor, bribes 
another person intending to obtain or retain business for the organisation or to 
obtain or retain an advantage in the conduct of business for the organisation. 

• Bribery of a foreign official - this is where a person, directly or through a third 
party, offers, promises or gives any financial or other advantage to a foreign 
public official in an attempt to influence them as a public servant and to obtain 
or retain business, or any other related advantage in the conduct of business.  

 
2.3 Theft – under the 1968 Theft Act a “person shall be guilty of theft if they 

dishonestly appropriate property belonging to another with the intention of 
permanently depriving another of it”. 

 
 

3. Culture 
 
3.1 The culture of the Council is one of openness and the Council is committed to 

sound corporate governance, and supports the general principles as set out in The 
Relevant Authorities (General Principles) Order 2001 i.e. 
• Selflessness 
• Honesty and Integrity 
• Objectivity 
• Accountability 
• Openness 
 

• Personal Judgement 
• Respect for others 
• Duty to Uphold the Law 
• Stewardship 
• Leadership 
 

3.2 The prevention and detection of fraud and corruption and the protection of 
the public purse are responsibilities of everyone. The Council’s Members and 
officers play an important part in creating and maintaining this culture. They are 
positively encouraged to raise concerns regarding fraud and corruption, in the 
knowledge that such concerns will, wherever possible, be treated in confidence. To 
support this the Council has a “Whistleblowing” policy and procedure in operation. 

Page 54



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 3  
 

 
3.3 Concerns must be raised when members, or officers, reasonably believe that 

one or more of the following has occurred, is in the process of occurring, or 
is likely to occur: 
• A criminal offence 
• A failure to comply with statutory or legal obligation 
• Improper unauthorised use of public or other funds 
• A miscarriage of justice 
• Maladministration, misconduct or malpractice 
• Endangering of an individuals health and safety 
• Damage to the environment 
• Deliberate concealment of any of the above 

 
3.4 The Council will ensure that any allegations received in any way, including by 

anonymous letters or telephone calls, will be taken seriously and independently 
investigated in an appropriate manner. 

 
3.5 The Council will deal firmly with those who defraud it, or are corrupt, or where there 

has been financial malpractice. There is a need to ensure that any investigation 
process is not misused and, therefore, any abuse (such as officers raising 
malicious allegations) may be dealt with as a disciplinary manner. 

 
3.6 When fraud and corruption has occurred due to a breakdown in the Council’s 

systems or procedures, senior managers will ensure that appropriate 
improvements in systems of control are implemented in order to prevent a re-
occurrence. 

 
3.7 The Council also encourages members of the public who may have concerns that 

fraud is being committed to contact the Chief Executive Officer, the Director of Law 
and Democratic Services (the Council’s Monitoring Officer) or the Head of Internal 
Audit. 

 
 

4. Key Principles 
 
4.1 Leading by example, the Council has: 

• Introduced appropriate measures to minimise the risk of fraud 
• Adopted formal procedures to investigate fraud when it is suspected 
• Operated a procedure for officers to voice genuine concerns and protect those 

who do so 
• Deterred officers from making malicious or unfounded allegations 
• No hesitation referring cases of suspected financial irregularity to the attention 

of the Police 
• Liaised on fraud issues with all organisations with whom we are in partnership 

Page 55



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 4  
 

• Worked closely with the Police and other appropriate external agencies to 
combat fraud 

 
 

5. Members’ Responsibilities 
 
5.1 As elected representatives, all Members of the Council have a duty to the citizens 

of Swindon, to protect the Council from all forms of abuse. This is reflected through 
the adoption of this Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy and compliance with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, the Council’s Financial Regulations and 
Standing Orders and relevant legislation. 

 
5.2 Elected members undertake to observe the Council’s Code of Conduct when they 

take office. These conduct, and ethical matters are specifically brought to the 
attention of Members during induction and include the declaration and registration 
of interests. The Director of Law and Democratic Services advises Members on the 
ethical framework and of new legislative or procedural requirements. 

 
5.3 The Council’s Standards Committee approves the strategy and along with the 

Audit Committee they monitor it and the Whistleblowing Policy to ensure that they 
operate effectively. 

 
 

6. Officers’ Responsibilities 
 
6.1 The Council’s Standing Orders, Financial Regulations and guidance govern 

officers, especially the Council’s Code of Conduct for Officers. The Code of 
Conduct includes guidelines on Gifts and Hospitality and conflicts of interest. 
These matters will be included in induction training and procedure manuals. 

 
6.2 Officers are expected to always be aware of the possibility that fraud, bribery and 

theft may exist and be able to share their concerns with management. If for any 
reason they feel unable to speak to their manager they must refer the matter to 
one of those named below: 
• Heads of Service, Directors, Group Directors, the Chief Executive, the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer or members of the Standards Committee, who will report 
such concerns to the Head of Internal Audit. 

• Directly to the Head of Internal Audit 
• The Council’s External Auditor, who depending upon the nature of the concern 

will liase with the Head of Internal Audit 
 
6.3 Concerns can also be raised anonymously (letter or telephone) or via other routes 

such as the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy (see Appendix 1). 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 5  
 

7. Managers’ Responsibilities 
 
7.1 Managers are responsible for the communication and implementation of this 

strategy in their work area. They are also responsible for ensuring that they and 
their officers are aware of: 

 
• Standing Orders  
• Financial Regulations 
• Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
• Whistleblowing Procedure 
• Scheme of Delegation 

• Codes of Conduct 
• Complaints and Disciplinary Procedures 
• Service specific procedure manuals 
• Managers’ Guide: Fraud Response 

Plan 
 

 
7.2 Managers determine the extent of internal control in their systems and are 

responsible for providing an environment that ensures that resources are properly 
applied, value for money is secured, fraud and other losses prevented, and the 
Council Financial Regulations and other policies complied with. 

 
7.3 Probity issues should be afforded a very high profile in employee induction and 

training processes and all new members of staff should be made aware of the Anti-
Fraud and Bribery Strategy via their induction. 

 
7.4 Information provided to Managers by Internal Audit regarding frauds committed 

elsewhere should be carefully considered. One source of such information is the 
fraud bulletin available on the intranet. Managers should consider whether their 
procedures are sufficiently secure to prevent a similar occurrence within our 
Council. 

 
 

8. Conflicts of Interest 
 
8.1 Both elected members and officers must ensure that they avoid situations where 

there is potential for a conflict of interest. Such situations can arise with 
externalisation of services, tendering, planning issues etc. Effective role separation 
will ensure decisions made are seen to be based upon impartial advice and avoid 
questions about improper disclosure of confidential information. 

 
 

9. Internal Audit’s Responsibilities 
 
9.1 The role of the Head of Internal Audit is to deliver an opinion to the Audit 

Committee, the Chief Executive, Leader of the Council and the Section 151 Officer, 
on the Council’s risk management, control and governance arrangements.  

 
9.2 In relation to fraud this responsibility includes the examination of the adequacy of 

arrangements for managing the risk of fraud and ensuring that the Council actively 
promotes an anti-fraud culture and that officers are aware of the Council’s Anti-

Page 57



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 6  
 

Fraud and Bribery Strategy and of their responsibilities in relation to combating 
fraud. 

 
9.3 In addition, Internal Audit assists in deterring fraud by examining and evaluating 

the effectiveness of control, commensurate with the risk, throughout the Council’s 
operations. This includes ensuring that management has reviewed its risk 
exposure, identified and mitigated against the possibility of fraud as a business 
risk. As part of this, Internal Audit will undertake an annual programme of proactive 
fraud testing. 

 
9.4 Internal Audit will investigate all employee cases of suspected financial irregularity, 

fraud or corruption, except Benefits Fraud investigations (see point 10 below) in 
accordance with agreed procedures and relevant legislation i.e. Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). 

 
9.5 Internal Audit is responsible for following up any allegation of fraud or corruption 

received and does so through clearly defined procedures and standards: 
• Dealing with the matter promptly 
• Recording all evidence received, ensuring that it is sound and adequately 

supported 
• Consulting with the Police as appropriate 
• Notifying relevant officers i.e. Director/Group Director, Monitoring Officer, 

Section 151 Officer and Chief Executive where appropriate 
• Assisting the relevant Director/Head of Service and Head of Human Resources 

in implementing any disciplinary procedures where appropriate 
• Ensuring that appropriate action is taken to minimize the risk of similar frauds 

occurring in the future 
 

 

10. Benefit Investigation Team’s Responsibilities 
 
10.1 The Benefits Investigation team is responsible for all Benefit Fraud investigations. 

The team report to the Head of Revenues and Benefits. In cases where officers of 
the Council may be suspected of an irregularity, the Benefits Investigation team will 
work with Internal Audit, Human Resources and appropriate senior management to 
ensure that correct procedures are followed and that this policy is adhered to. 

 
10.2 To support this policy the Council has a Benefit Fraud Prosecution Policy. The 

policy encompasses all those in receipt of benefits, be they the public, Members, 
officers or contractors. It is designed to clarify the Council’s action in specific cases 
and to deter others from committing offences against the Council. 

 
10.3 The Benefits Service operates within the Government’s policies and guidance, 

which aims to improve the quality and accuracy of benefit determinations and both 
prevent and reduce the incidents of fraud. 
 
 

Page 58



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 7  
 

11. External Audit’s Responsibilities 
 
11.1 External Audit has an essential role to play in relation to the stewardship of public 

money. The role is delivered through the carrying out of specific reviews that are 
designed to test (amongst other things) the adequacy of the Council’s financial 
systems, and arrangements for preventing and detecting fraud and corruption. 

 
11.2 It is not the External Auditor’s function to prevent fraud and irregularities, but the 

integrity of public funds is at all times a matter of general concern. The external 
auditor has a responsibility to review the Council’s arrangements for preventing 
and detecting fraud and irregularities, and arrangements designed to limit the 
opportunity for corrupt practices. 

 
 

12. Measures to minimise the risk of fraud 
 

12.1 In order to maintain high standards, procedures and controls have been 
established, providing an environment that will minimise the opportunity for fraud. 
Key documents that support the Council’s commitment against fraud are published 
on the intranet. Important anti fraud and bribery procedures include: 

 
• Financial Regulations 
• Codes of Conduct for Members 

and Officers 
• Disciplinary Procedures 
• Council’s Complaints Procedure 
• Whistleblowing Policy 
• Managers’ Guide: Fraud 

Response Plan 
• Membership of National Anti-

Fraud Initiatives, including the 
Housing Benefit Matching 
Service 

• Money Laundering Guidance 
• Data Protection and Information 

Security Guidance 

• Standing Orders relating to Contracts 
• Information Technology Security 

Policy 
• The Royal Mail’s service to return re-

directed benefit mail 
• A Prosecution Policy (Benefits) 
• The Security Manual in relation to 

Housing Benefit claims 
• Scheme for the Financing of Schools 
• Departmental Guidance and 

Procedure Notes 
• Disclosure of Gifts and Hospitality  
• Declaration of Conflicts of Interest 
• Procurement Toolkit 

 
12.2 These documents and procedures establish the rules and boundaries to which 

Members and Officers must adhere. These are supported, as necessary, by 
detailed procedure manuals that have been prepared for the key functions of the 
Council. 

  
12.3 Officers and Members are expected to comply with any statutory obligations about 

disclosure, conflicts of interest, pecuniary interests, gifts and hospitality received 
and offered but refused. 

 

Page 59



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 8  
 

12.4 The Council operates rigorous recruitment processes that include the verification of 
references and the completion of CRB checks for people appointed to sensitive 
posts e.g. those who will have contact with children or vulnerable adults, prior to 
them taking up appointment. 

 
12.5 It is the responsibility of Directors and Managers (Head teachers and Governors in 

schools) to operate internal systems to ensure these standards are applied and 
bring these systems to the attention of their officers. Procedures are operated 
throughout the Council to ensure: 
• An adequate separation in duties (more than one employee involved in key 

tasks) 
• Proper authorisation procedures (transactions must be approved by an 

appropriately mandated officer) 
• Independent monitoring and checking of data and documentation (checks and 

balances) 
 
12.6 The Council has a rigorous internal and external audit process that monitors 

compliance with internal regulations and undertakes a rolling programme of checks 
to detect, deter and prevent fraud and corruption. However, it is for managers to 
determine the extent of internal control in their systems and they are responsible 
for providing an environment that ensures that resources are properly applied, 
value for money is secured, fraud and other losses prevented, and the Council’s 
Financial Regulations are complied with.  

 
 

13. Detection and Investigation 
 
13.1 There are numerous system controls in place to deter fraud and corruption but it is 

often the vigilance of officers and members of the public that aids detection.  
 
13.2 Internal Audit plays an important role in the detection of fraud and bribery. Included 

in their annual plan are reviews of system financial controls and specific fraud and 
corruption tests, spot checks etc. 

 
13.3 All suspected irregularities should be reported to the Head of Internal Audit. This is 

essential to the strategy and: 
• Ensures the consistent treatment of information regarding fraud and bribery; 

and  
• Facilitates a proper and thorough investigation by an experienced audit team. 

 
13.4 This process will apply to allegations relating to all the following areas: 

• Fraud/bribery by elected members 
• Internal fraud 
• Other fraud by Council officers acting in a personal capacity 
• Fraud by contractors 
• External fraud (the public) 

 

Page 60



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 9  
 

Cases may be referred directly to the External Auditor or Police by complainants. 
The Council may also consider passing on such allegations to the External Auditor 
or the Police if considered appropriate. 

 
13.5 Depending on the allegation, the Head of Internal Audit will normally work closely 

with the appropriate senior manager concerned to ensure that all allegations are 
thoroughly investigated and reported upon.  

13.6 Any decision to refer a matter to the Police will be taken by the Head of Internal 
Audit in consultation with the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and relevant 
Group Director/Director as appropriate. 

 
 

14. Actions taken when fraud has been established 
 
14.1 Disciplinary Action 

• Fraud, bribery and theft are serious offences against the Council and will be 
regarded as gross misconduct. Officers will face disciplinary action if there is 
evidence that they have been involved in these activities, including Benefit 
Fraud.  Disciplinary action will be taken in addition to, or instead of, criminal 
proceedings depending on the circumstances of each case and the advice of 
the Police. 

 
14.2 Prosecution 

• In cases of fraud and bribery, where there is evidence to suggest that a criminal 
offence has been committed, it is the responsibility of the Head of Internal Audit 
in consultation with the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and relevant Group 
Director/Director, as appropriate, to submit the case to the Police for 
investigation and prosecution as appropriate 

 
14.3 Publicity 

• The Council’s Communications team will optimise the publicity opportunities 
associated with anti-fraud and corruption activity proved. They will endeavour to 
ensure that the results of any action taken, including prosecutions, are reported 
to the press and or via the Council’s Intranet/Internet sites.  

• In all cases where financial loss has occurred, the Council will seek to recover 
any loss and consider making the public aware of this through the media. 

• All anti-fraud and bribery activities, including the review of this policy; the issue 
of Fraud Bulletins and Warnings, will be publicised to make officers and the 
public aware of the Council’s commitment to taking action on fraud and 
corruption, when it occurs. 

• Regular reports by the Monitoring Officer and Head of Internal Audit will be 
made to Standards Committee and the Audit Committee with respect to 
countering fraud and corruption activities and their successes. 

 
 
 

Page 61



Anti-Fraud and Bribery Strategy 
 

 10  
 

15. Awareness and Training 
 
15.1 The Council recognises that the continuing success of this strategy and its general 

credibility will depend in part on the effectiveness of training and awareness on the 
part of elected Members and officers. To facilitate this, positive and appropriate 
provision will be made through induction training and specialist training for certain 
elected Members and officers.  

 
15.2 In addition, Internal Audit will circulate Fraud Bulletins and warnings to all Members 

and officers, including schools. The Director of Finance, the Monitoring Officer and 
Head of Internal Audit will also provide relevant training. 

 
 

16. Monitoring 
 
16.1 The Standards Committee and Audit Committee will monitor the Anti-Fraud 

Strategy and Whistleblowing procedure for the Council and ensure that it operates 
effectively. The Head of Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer in consultation 
with the respective Committee Chairs will ensure that any corrective actions 
identified from investigations are brought to the attention of the Committees. 

 
 
17. Conclusion 
 
17.1 The Council has in place a network of systems and procedures to assist it in 

dealing with fraud and corruption when it occurs. It is determined that these 
arrangements will keep pace with any future developments in both prevention and 
detection techniques, regarding fraudulent or corrupt activity. It will also continue to 
discipline and prosecute anyone found guilty of fraud or corrupt activities. 

 

Page 62



APPENDIX 1 

SWINDON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

DISCLOSURE  
(‘WHISTLEBLOWING’)  

POLICY 
 

Reviewed: OCTOBER 2011 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

Contents  
 
 Page 

Number 
1.    Introduction  1 
2.    Aims and Scope of Policy 1 
3.    Safeguards 2 
4.    How to raise a concern 3 
5.    How the Council will respond 4 
6.    How the matter can be taken further 5 
7.    The Monitoring Officer 6 
8.    The Law 6 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

Page 64



Disclosure ‘Whistleblowing’ Policy 
 

October 2011 1 Swindon Borough Council 
 

 
 
1.1  Employees, Members and School Governors are often the first to realise that 

there may be something seriously wrong within the Council. However, they may 
not express concerns because they feel that speaking up would be disloyal to 
their colleagues or to the Council. They may also fear harassment or 
victimisation. In these circumstances, it may be easier to ignore the concern 
rather than report what may just be a suspicion of malpractice. 

  
1.2  The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity 

and accountability. In line with that commitment, we encourage employees and 
others with serious concerns about any aspect of the Council's work to come 
forward and voice those concerns. It is recognised that certain cases will have to 
proceed on a confidential basis. This policy document makes it clear that staff 
can do so without fear of reprisals. This Disclosure Policy is intended to 
encourage and enable staff to raise serious concerns within the Council rather 
than overlooking a problem or blowing the whistle outside.  

 
1.3  This Disclosure Policy has been devised in accordance with the provisions of the 

Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 and the recent British Standard Institute 
Code of Practice regarding Whistleblowing arrangements, and seeks to bring 
into the open concerns of the staff and public relating to issues concerning 
dishonesty involving the Council.  

 
1.4  This policy supports the Council's Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy, and makes it 

clear that concerns can be raised without fear of reprisals. It is intended to 
encourage and enable employees, Members and Governors to raise serious 
concerns within the Council, irrespective of seniority, rank or status, rather than 
overlooking a problem or reporting the matter externally.  

 
 
2. Aims and Scope of the Policy 
 
2.1  This policy aims to:  

• Provide avenues for staff to raise concerns and receive feedback on any 
action taken;  

• Allow staff to take the matter further if they are dissatisfied with the Council's 
response; and  

• Reassure staff that they will be protected from reprisals or victimisation for 
whistleblowing in good faith.  

 
2.2  There are existing procedures in place to enable staff to lodge a grievance 

relating to their own employment for example in relation to areas such as terms 
and conditions of employment; health and safety; work relations; new working 

1. Introduction  

Page 65



Disclosure ‘Whistleblowing’ Policy 
 

October 2011 2 Swindon Borough Council 
 

practices; working environment and conditions; workload; organisational change, 
etc. This Disclosure Policy is intended to cover concerns that fall outside the 
scope of that procedure.  

 
2.3  That concern may be about something that:  

• Is unlawful, or  
• Is contrary to the Council's Standing Orders or policies, or  
• Falls below established standards or practice; or  
• Amounts to improper conduct  

 
For example (this list is not exhaustive):  
• Malpractice or ill treatment of a client/customer   
• A criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely to be 

committed  
• Suspected fraud  
• Disregard for legislation, particularly in relation to health and safety at work  
• Breach of Financial Regulations, Standing Orders  
• Showing undue favour over a contractual matter or to a job applicant  
• A breach of any code of conduct or protocol  
• Information on any of the above has been, is being, or is likely to be 

concealed.  
 
2.4  The overriding concern should be that it would be in the public interest for the 

malpractice to be corrected and, if appropriate, sanctions applied.  
 
 
3. Safeguards 
 
Harassment or Victimisation 
  
3.1  The Council recognises that the decision to report a concern can be a difficult 

one to make, not least because of the fear of reprisal from those responsible for 
the malpractice. The Council will not tolerate harassment or victimisation and will 
take action to protect staff when they raise a concern in good faith. The Council 
will treat any harassment or victimisation as a serious disciplinary offence to be 
dealt with under the Disciplinary Procedure.  

 
3.2  This does not mean that if staff are already the subject of disciplinary or 

redundancy procedures, that those procedures will be halted as a result of their 
whistleblowing. 

 
 

Page 66



Disclosure ‘Whistleblowing’ Policy 
 

October 2011 3 Swindon Borough Council 
 

Confidentiality 
 

3.3  The Council will do its best to protect a staff member's identity when they raise a 
concern and do not want their name to be disclosed. It must be appreciated that the 
investigation process may reveal the source of the information and a statement by 
staff may be required as part of the evidence.  

 
Anonymous Allegations  

 
3.4 This policy encourages staff to put their name to their allegation. Concerns 

expressed anonymously are much less powerful, but they will be considered at the 
discretion of the Council.  

 
3.5 In exercising the discretion, the factors to be taken into account would include the:  

• seriousness of the issues raised;  
• credibility of the concern; and  
• likelihood of confirming the allegation from an attributable source.  

 
Untrue Allegations 
 
3.6 If staff make an allegation in good faith, but it is not confirmed by the investigation, 

no action will be taken against them. If, however, staff make malicious or vexatious 
allegations, disciplinary action may be taken against them.  

 
 
4. How to raise a concern 
 
4.1  Employees who raise concerns that fall within the scope of other Council 

procedures will not be dealt with in this procedure, but will be advised on the 
appropriate procedure to use. Such employees will still receive protection as 
detailed in this policy. 

 
4.2 As a first step, staff should normally raise concerns with their immediate manager 

or supervisor as soon as the employee has reasonable suspicion. This depends, 
however, on the seriousness and sensitivity of the issues involved and who is 
thought to be involved in the malpractice. If in doubt, contact the Chief Executive, or 
the Director of Law and Democratic Services (the Council’s Monitoring Officer), or 
the Head of Internal Audit.  

 
4.3  Alternatively, staff can leave a message on the 24-hour Whistleblowing answer 

phone and fax service (telephone number 01793 464603). The phone and fax are 
located in a secure area. This service is strictly confidential and callers will not be 
asked to give their name if they do not want to.  

 

Page 67



Disclosure ‘Whistleblowing’ Policy 
 

October 2011 4 Swindon Borough Council 
 

4.3  Concerns are better raised in writing. Staff are invited to set out the background 
and history of their concern, giving names, dates and places where possible, and 
the reason why they are particularly concerned about the situation. If staff do not 
feel able to put their concern in writing, they can telephone or meet the appropriate 
officer. The earlier staff express the concern, the easier it is to take action.  

 
4.4  Although staff are not expected to prove the truth of an allegation, they will need to 

demonstrate to the person contacted that there are sufficient grounds for the 
concern.  

 
4.5  Advice and guidance on matters of concern may be pursued and can be obtained 

from:  
• Chief Executive  
• Group Directors / Directors  
• Director of Law and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)  
• Director of Finance 
• Head of Internal Audit  
• any of those listed in paragraph 6.1 below 

 
4.6  Staff may invite a trade union representative or work colleague to raise a matter on 

their behalf.  
 
 
5. How the Council will respond 
 
5.1  The action taken by the Council will depend on the nature of the concern and may:  

• be resolved by agreed action without the need for investigation 
• be investigated internally  
• be referred to the Police;  
• be referred to the external auditor;  
• form the subject of an independent inquiry  

 
5.2  In order to protect individuals and the Council, initial enquiries will be forwarded to 

the Monitoring Officer who will consult with the Head of Internal Audit and the Chair 
of Standards Committee and decide whether an investigation is appropriate and, if 
so, what form it should take. The Monitoring Officer can decide to take no further 
action if a complaint appears to be trivial or vexatious. All such decisions will be 
reported to the next meeting of Standards Committee. Concerns or allegations that 
fall within the scope of specific procedures, for example discrimination issues, will 
normally be referred for consideration under those procedures.  

 

Page 68



Disclosure ‘Whistleblowing’ Policy 
 

October 2011 5 Swindon Borough Council 
 

5.3 Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for 
investigation and staff will be involved in those discussions. The Monitoring Officer 
shall report periodically thereon to the Standards Committee.  

 
5.4 If an investigation is required, the Monitoring Officer will consult with the Head of 

Internal Audit and the Chair of Standards Committee and designate an appropriate 
officer to investigate the concern. Following this that officer will, within ten working 
days, write to the member of staff:  
• Acknowledging that an investigation will be carried out 
• Indicating how he/she proposes to deal with the matter 
• Giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response 
• Telling them whether any initial enquiries have been made 
• Telling them whether further investigations will take place, and if not, why not  
• Advising them that any investigation will be carried out in the strictest 

confidence; and  
• Keeping them informed of the progress of the investigation.  

 
5.5 The amount of contact between the officers considering the issues and the staff 

member will depend on the nature of the matters raised, the potential difficulties 
involved and the clarity of the information provided. If necessary, further information 
will be sought from staff.  

 
5.6 When any meeting is arranged, staff have the right, if they so wish, to be 

accompanied by a union representative or work colleague who is not involved in the 
area of work to which the concern relates.  

 
5.7 The Council will take steps to minimise any difficulties that staff may experience as 

a result of raising a concern. For instance, if they are required to give evidence in 
criminal or disciplinary proceedings, the Council will advise them about the 
procedure.  

 
5.8 The Monitoring Officer will report on the outcome of any investigation to the 

Standards Committee who will monitor the implementation of the recommendation 
of the investigation.  

 
 
6. How the matter can be taken further 
 
6.1  This policy is intended to provide staff with an avenue to raise concerns within the 

Council. The Council hopes staff will be satisfied. If they are not, and feel that it is 
right to take the matter outside the Council, the following are possible contact 
points:  
• Local Council member (if staff member lives in the area of the Council)  

Page 69



Disclosure ‘Whistleblowing’ Policy 
 

October 2011 6 Swindon Borough Council 
 

• Chair or any member of the Standards Committee  
• The External Auditor (Audit Commission: tel. no. 0117 923 6757) 
• Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations  
• Solicitor  
• The Police  
• An independent person or organisation nominated for the purpose by the 

Council  
• Public Concern at Work (tel. no. 020 7404 6609). If staff do take this matter 

outside the Council, they need to ensure that they do not disclose confidential 
information or that disclosure would be privileged. Staff should check with the 
contact point about that.  

 
 
7. The Monitoring Officer 
 
7.1  The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation 

of this policy, and he will liase as necessary with the Head of Internal Audit and 
Chair of Standards Committee.  

 
7.2  The Monitoring Officer maintains a record of concerns raised and the outcomes (but 

in a form which does not endanger staff confidentiality) and will report as necessary 
to the Standards Committee. 

 
 
8. The Law 
 
8.1  This policy and procedure has been written to take account of the Public Interest 

Disclosure Act 1998, which protects workers making disclosures about certain 
matters of concern, where those disclosures are made in accordance with the Act's 
provisions.  

 
8.2 The Act is incorporated into the Employments Rights Act 1996, which also already 

protects employees who take action over, or raise concerns about health and safety 
at work. For the avoidance of doubt, financial issues are covered by Section 151 
Local Government Act 1972, Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988, The Local Government and Housing Act 1989, and Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2011. 

Page 70



APPENDIX 2 

 
 
 
SWINDON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

FRAUD RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY:  Nick Hobbs 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
DATE: OCTOBER 2011 
 
VERSION: 3.1

Page 71



Fraud Response Plan 
 

January 2009 2 Swindon Borough Council 
 

 

1. Introduction  
 
1.1 The Council is committed to protecting the public funds with which it has been 

entrusted. Minimising the losses to fraud and corruption is an essential part of 
ensuring that all of the Council’s resources are used for the purpose for which they 
are intended, namely the provision of high quality services to the citizens of the 
borough. The Council has a range of policies and procedures that facilitate this 
process and form equally important parts of the Council’s overall strategy. These 
include the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy, the Whistleblowing Policy and the 
Surveillance Policy (RIPA). 

 
1.2 This document is intended to provide direction and help to officers and members in 

reporting and reacting with suspected cases of theft, fraud and corruption. It also 
gives direction to others wanting to report matters of concern in these areas.   

 
1.3 The two flowcharts (Chart 1 and Chart 2) on Pages 3 and 4 give a brief 

overview as to how an allegation should be dealt with. 
 
 
2. Scope of Response Plan  
 
2.1 The scope of this response plan is not limited to fraud and corruption but is 

applicable to any suspected act of financial impropriety. This includes any act that 
puts the Council’s resources at risk. 

 
2.2 The exception to this are the arrangements for reporting Housing Benefit Fraud, 

which is dealt with in the Council’s “Reporting Fraud” document for Housing Benefit 
claims.  The Council’s in-house Benefit Fraud Team investigates these frauds. 

 
2.3 Definitions of what constitutes a fraud can be found in the Anti-Fraud and 

Corruption Strategy on page fraud  
 

 

Page 72



Fraud Response Plan 
 

January 2009 3 Swindon Borough Council 
 

1. Reporting Fraud 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

You suspect fraud / illegal activity against the 
Council this could be by an employee, contractor, 

consultant, member of the public etc. 

Discuss with Line Manager or 
another Senior Officer. 

Report to Head of Internal Audit, Director 
of Finance, Monitoring Officer, or use the 
Council’s Whistleblowing Hotline. 

Report suspicions to Head 
of Internal Audit. 

Initial investigations undertaken by 
manager following receipt of advice 
from Internal Audit, or by Internal 
Audit themselves, or by Police if 
appropriate. 

Management take immediate action to 
prevent further losses and correct 
controls in liaison with Internal Audit 

To Chart 2  

Contact Numbers: 
 
Head of Internal Audit: 01793 463940 
 
Director of Finance: 01793 463300 
 
Monitoring Officer: 01793 463012 
 
Whistleblowing Hotline: 01793 464603 
 

P
age 73



Fraud Response Plan 
 

January 2009 4 Swindon Borough Council 
 

No 

Or 

No 
Or 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

2. Conducting the Investigation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

         
 
 
 
 
                                               Either 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

From Chart 1 

Early informal 
contact with Police if 
appropriate 

No case to answer 

Record for future 
reference 

Consider civil action 

Investigator appointed by Head of 
Internal Audit (in conjunction with 
Director of Finance and Monitoring 
Officer (if relevant) 

Criminal act? 

Internal investigation, 
carried out with HR 
advice, decides …… 

Error of judgement or 
negligence 

Inform Police and 
External Auditors 

Gross misconduct. 

Loss recovered 

Initiate dismissal 
procedures 

Implement disciplinary 
procedures 

Loss recovered. 

Consider civil 
action 

Yes Follow actions as 
advised by Police 

P
age 74



Fraud Response Plan 
 

October 2011 5 Swindon Borough Council 
 

3. Reporting Suspicions 
 
 If fraud or corruption is suspected, then the matter should be reported without 

delay. Officers should report to a line manager at the outset and retain all 
evidence.  If it is thought that the line manager may be involved, or that there may 
be a conflict of interest, the matter should be reported directly to a more senior 
officer, or to the: 
• Head of Internal Audit  
• Director of Finance  
• Monitoring Officer (Director of Law and Democratic Services) 
 
Employees may raise their concerns verbally, or preferably in writing, to ensure 
allegations are reflected accurately to those conducting investigations. 
 
Employees who make a written allegation should ensure their account includes the 
background, history and nature of their concern (including names and relevant 
dates and locations, where applicable) and the reason why they are particularly 
concerned about the situation. 
 
Internal Audit also provides a 24-hour Whistleblowing hotline that employees can 
use to report their concerns (telephone number 01793 464603). Messages left are 
treated as strictly confidential and are only accessed by authorised Internal Audit 
staff. 
 
Employees can leave their personal details when calling the hotline or make the 
allegations anonymously. It should be noted that it is considerably more difficult to 
investigate anonymous allegations.  
 
Alternatively contact can be made by writing to the Head of Internal Audit, Civic 
Offices, Euclid Street, Swindon. SN1 2JH or e-mail at nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk  
 
If in doubt, Public Concern at Work (www.pcaw.co.uk) will give free and totally 
independent advice on how to proceed (contact helpline@pcaw.co.uk or telephone 
020 7404 6609). 
 
If suspicions have been reported through the Whistleblowing Policy they will be 
reported to the Council’s Monitoring Officer who, in liaison with the Head of Internal 
Audit and Chair of Standards Committee, will appoint an appropriate investigating 
officer (for more details see the Whistleblowing Policy which is available on the 
Intranet – under the A-Z list of services (under ‘W’)).   

 
  
4. Investigation 
 
 Managers & Supervisors: 

As soon as an officer reports fraud or corruption, the manager or supervisor 
should, in all instances, seek advice from Internal Audit. 
 
 

Page 75



Fraud Response Plan 
 

October 2011 6 Swindon Borough Council 
 

The Manager should: 
• Obtain a written record of the concerns from the person making the 

allegations, or in cases where they have discovered the potential fraud, 
prepare a written report themself. This should include: 
- Background details and nature of the suspicions (including relevant 

names, dates and locations). 
- Details of the job and areas of responsibility of the individuals implicated. 
- Why the person raising the matter is concerned. 
- Action taken to date. 
- A description of the systems, controls and procedures that should be 

operating within the area subject to abuse.  
• Contact the Head of Internal Audit as soon as possible to discuss the 

seriousness and factual basis of the allegations and the next steps to be 
taken.  

• Take care, at this stage, to ensure that the suspect(s) are not alerted to the 
potential investigation and the confidentiality of informants is not 
compromised. 

• Under no circumstances take any action to investigate the allegations 
themselves, or allow employees to do so, without sanction or guidance from 
Internal Audit. This includes interviewing, or observation, of suspects in 
connection with the suspected act. This is to ensure that evidence is collected 
in a way that complies with relevant legislation and does not compromise the 
investigation and/or subsequent disciplinary procedures/prosecutions. 

 
Internal Audit: 
Once an allegation has been made and an investigation deemed necessary it is 
likely that Internal Audit will either conduct the investigation or be involved in some 
way. 
 
Internal Audit will take appropriate advice from the Council Human Resources 
directorate and, where relevant, the Police during the course of their investigation.  
 
The purpose of the audit investigation is to establish the facts in an equitable and 
objective manner. The process will involve the use of authority or delegated 
powers to: 
• screen allegations, or information, to gauge their credibility; 
• secure all evidence;  
• interview suspects;  
• interview witnesses;  
• take statements;  
• liase with departments, or other agencies (including the Police). 

 
Where evidence of offences or irregularities is found, the Council will take suitable 
further action. The investigating officer will compile a report of their findings for 
submission to the department concerned detailing their recommendations 
regarding disciplinary action or referring to the Police (see below). 
 
 
 

Page 76



Fraud Response Plan 
 

October 2011 7 Swindon Borough Council 
 

5. Establishing and Securing Evidence 
 

In order to initiate disciplinary/criminal proceedings against a suspect of financial 
misconduct it is essential that evidence be secured in a legally admissible form, 
without alerting suspects at the outset of the investigation. 
 
As such, managers and staff should not attempt to collect any form of evidence 
(e.g. records, statements or surveillance evidence) without sanction from Internal 
Audit, who will be responsible for co-ordinating the collection of evidence as part of 
any internal investigation.  Any IT equipment that may hold evidence should be 
secured without being accessed by anyone. 
 
Staff collecting evidence (whether audit staff or otherwise) should ensure it is 
stored securely at all times and is not tampered with, that no marks are made on 
original documents and a record is kept of anyone handling evidence.  The Data 
Protection Act should be complied with at all times. 
 
Staff responsible for interviewing suspect(s) should be trained in the requirements 
of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984. Failure to comply with PACE 
requirements in interviews will mean that nothing said by the suspect will be 
admissible in a court of law. 
 
Staff responsible for commissioning and carrying out surveillance of suspects 
should do so in accordance with the requirements of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and the Council’s Policy and Protocol on 
Surveillance. Failure to comply with RIPA will make all surveillance evidence 
inadmissible in court and may leave the Council liable to court action.  The 
Council’s Monitoring Officer or Head of Internal Audit can provide advice in the 
requirements of RIPA. 
 
 

6. Police Referral Procedures 
 

The decision to refer a matter to the Police will only be taken by the Head of 
Internal Audit, in consultation with the Director of Finance, the appropriate Head of 
Service and the Director of Law and Democratic Services and where appropriate 
the Chief Executive. In such cases the Head of Internal Audit will instigate contact 
with the Police. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit shall handle all requests from the Police for additional 
evidence, statements or any other form of assistance. 
 
 

7. Prevention of Further Losses  
 

When a suspected fraud is reported the Head of Internal Audit will liaise with the 
Head of Service and appropriate Human Resources Manager to determine the 
most appropriate course of action to prevent any further losses to the Authority 
being incurred. 
 

Page 77



Fraud Response Plan 
 

October 2011 8 Swindon Borough Council 
 

This may require the suspension of the suspected individual(s) concerned. The 
normal circumstances for suspension would be: 
• Where the continued employment of the individual(s) could lead to further 

losses. 
• Where the continued employment of the individual(s) could jeopardise the 

investigation (where the individuals could destroy or remove evidence). 
• Where the Police have charged the officer with a criminal offence relating to 

the Council. 
 
All suspensions will be carried out in line with the Standards of Conduct and 
Disciplinary Procedure. Suspension does not constitute disciplinary action. 

 
Any security passes and keys to Council property should be obtained from the 
suspect(s) along with other Council owned items (such as laptops), and returned to 
the appropriate officer or kept securely pending investigation. The appropriate 
Systems Administrators should be contacted to disable access to all relevant IT 
systems. 
 
To prevent further losses and where it will not prejudice any subsequent 
investigation, management should liase with Internal Audit to remedy any identified 
control weaknesses that have permitted the act of financial impropriety to be 
undertaken. 

 
 
8. Recovery of Losses 
 

Managers should seek to recover any losses incurred through acts of financial 
impropriety from the offenders concerned. Management should consult the 
Director of Law and Democratic Services to establish the options available to 
recover losses. 
 
Where substantial potential losses have been identified at the outset of an 
investigation, management should seek legal advice immediately from the Director 
of Law and Democratic Services regarding the need to freeze the suspect’s assets 
through the Court, pending conclusion of the investigation. 

 
 
9. Publicity and Dealing with the Media in Connection with Suspected or 

Proven Fraud 
 
Any public statements regarding pending, current or completed investigations or 
allegations of financial impropriety should only be made through the 
Communications team, by contacting the Director of Partnership, Policy and 
Communications.  
 
Officers, Members and third parties of the Council should not make any public 
statement regarding suspected financial impropriety in order to avoid making 
libellous statements, or statements that may prejudice investigations, or any 
subsequent disciplinary/legal action. All such statements will be co-ordinated by 
the Communications team. If contacted by the public or the press, SBC personnel 

Page 78



Fraud Response Plan 
 

October 2011 9 Swindon Borough Council 
 

(including members and third parties) should refer those making the enquiry to the 
Director of Partnership, Policy and Communications.  
 
The Director of Partnership, Policy and Communications should optimise the 
publicity opportunities available to make employees and the public aware of the 
Council’s commitment to taking action on acts of financial impropriety. As such any 
action taken relating to acts of financial impropriety should be reported in the 
press, as a deterrent to other potential offenders. 

 
 
10. Roles and Responsibilities (who does what) 
 

Director of Finance: has overall responsibility for the Council’s response to fraud 
and to oversee the action taken to investigate.  
 
Head of Internal Audit: has responsibility for investigation of fraud and advising 
on action to be taken.  

  
Directors: have responsibility for establishing and maintaining adequate system 
controls within their directorates, including responsibility for prevention and 
detection of fraud and ensuring staff awareness.  
 
Monitoring Officer (Director of Law and Democratic Services): has 
responsibility for operation of the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy. 
 
Managers and supervisors: have responsibility for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and corruption within their work area and for swiftly reporting allegations 
brought to them (see Reporting Suspicions, section 3 of this Appendix).  

 
Investigating Officers (usually a member of the Internal Audit team)  
Have responsibility for investigating matters of suspected fraud or corruption 
complying with relevant legislation and best practice/guidance.  
 

 Employees: are required to act in accordance with the Staff Code of Conduct to 
report all actual or suspected cases of financial impropriety. 

 
Human Resources: will provide timely advice and guidance on Council policies 
and procedures during the course of any investigation and any subsequent 
disciplinary action. 

 
External Contractors/Third Parties:  should immediately contact the relevant 
service manager, or any of the personnel listed in section 3 of this Appendix, with 
concerns they have whilst working within the Council.  

 
Council Members: are required to act in accordance with the Members Code of 
Conduct and should report any suspected, or detected, acts of financial impropriety 
immediately to the Monitoring Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Director of Finance or 
Chief Executive. 

 
 
 

Page 79



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank



Head of Internal Audit Update 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE Date: 20th September 2011 
 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Nick Hobbs on Direct Dial No. 
01793 463940 or email nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk 
 

Author: Head of Internal Audit 
Wards Affected: None 
Purpose 
To present Members with a summary of the main issues arising from the Internal 
Audit reports finalised since the Audit Committee meeting in June 2011, and to 
update Members with regard to progress against the annual internal audit plan.  
 

 
Recommendation 
• It is recommended that the contents of the report be noted. 
 

 
1 Reasons 

 
1.1 The Council’s Audit Committee has a strategic role to ensure that the 

Council’s assurance framework is operating effectively. To this end it 
should seek assurance that key areas that contribute to this framework 
are operating properly. 

 
1.2 The Council’s Internal Audit section is a key component of the assurance 

framework and therefore it is essential that this Committee monitor its 
performance against the annual plan along with the implementation of 
agreed recommendations by Client departments.  

 
2 Detail 

 
Reports Issued 
 
2.1 Details of Internal Audit reports finalised since the June Audit Committee 

are set out in Appendix 1. The appendix sets out the key audit 
recommendations made along with the overall risk assessment to the 
Council.  

 
Progress on completion of Internal Audit Plan 2011/12 
 
2.2 As at the end of August 2011 we have completed 34% of the number of 

audits in the 2011/12 Internal Audit annual plan against a target of 32% 
(see Appendix 2).  

 
Alternative Options 
 
Not Applicable 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 81



Head of Internal Audit Update 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE Date: 20th September 2011 
 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Nick Hobbs on Direct Dial No. 
01793 463940 or email nhobbs@swindon.gov.uk 
 

Risk Management 
Financial and Procurement Implications 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report however 
individual audit reports address the suitability of internal controls within the 
systems examined.  
Legal/Human Rights Implications 
Internal Audit is a statutory requirement of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2011. The Internal Audit service also provides assurance to the Director of 
Finance regarding the requirements of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
Links to Corporate Plans and Policies  
Effective systems of internal control within the Council will help to ensure that the 
Council’s objectives are achieved. 
Consultees  
The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and the Director of Law and Democratic 
Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted on all reports. 
 
Appendices / Background papers 
Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Reports finalised since the April 2011 Audit Committee. 
Appendix 2 – Progress against 2011/12 Internal Audit plan. 
 
Key Decision/Decision in Forward Plan 
Not Applicable 

Page 82



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

Fin
al 
au

dit
 re

po
rts

 is
su
ed

: 
 Au

dit
 Ti

tle
:  

Eli
gib

ilit
y o

f C
are

, A
du

lt S
oc

ial
 C
are

 
Da

te 
of 

Au
dit

: 
Ju
ne
 20

11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

10
 

Cu
rre

nt 
Au

dit
 

Op
ini

on
:  

Sig
nif
ica

nt 
im
pro

ve
me

nts
 
Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
N/
A 

Ov
era

ll 
Ev

alu
ati

on
 (R

isk
): 

Of
 co

nc
ern

 

Ke
y F

ind
ing

s a
nd

 R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
Ke

y f
ind

ing
s: 

• 
Sp

ec
ific

 as
se
ss
me

nt 
cri
ter

ia,
 en

do
rse

d b
y c

as
e s

tud
ies

 fo
r g

uid
an
ce
, s
ho
uld

 be
 pu

t in
 pl
ac
e t
o s

up
po
rt e

ac
h o

f th
e f
ou
r k
ey
 D
ep
art

me
nt 
of 

He
alt
h’s

 FA
CS

 cr
ite
ria
 he

ad
ing

s i
.e.
 C
riti
ca
l, S

ub
sta

nti
al,
 M
od
era

te 
an
d L

ow
. T

his
 sh

ou
ld 
de
mo

ns
tra

te 
a r

ob
us
t a
nd
 co

ns
ide

red
 de

cis
ion

-
ma

kin
g p

roc
es
s t
ha
t c
ou
ld 
wit

hs
tan

d a
pp
ea
l a
nd
 po

ten
tia
l le

ga
l c
ha
lle
ng
e. 

• 
Th

e ‘
Pu

ttin
g P

eo
ple

 Fi
rst
’ s
erv

ice
 an

d b
ud
ge
t re

vie
w 
cu
rre

ntl
y b

ein
g u

nd
ert

ak
en
 by

 AS
C 
ma

na
ge
me

nt 
for

 th
e e

lig
ibi
lity

 of
 ca

re 
sh
ou
ld 

inc
lud

e e
va
lua

tin
g t
he
 po

ss
ibl
e m

erg
ing

 of
 ex

ist
ing

 se
cti
on
s t
ha
t p
rov

ide
 th
e s

am
e, 
or 
sim

ila
r, a

dm
ini
str
ati
ve
 an

d f
ina

nc
ial
 su

pp
ort

 fo
r e

ac
h 

of 
the

 th
ree

 ar
ea
s i
.e.
 Le

arn
ing

 D
isa

bil
itie

s, 
Ol
de
r P

eo
ple

 an
d P

hy
sic

al 
Dif

fic
ult
ies

; a
nd
 M
en
tal
 H
ea
lth
.  A

ll c
urr

en
t a
dm

ini
str
ati
ve
 w
ork

 
sh
ou
ld 
be
 br

ou
gh
t u
p t
o d

ate
.  W

ork
 pe

nd
ing

 ac
tio
n, 
eit
he
r b

y t
he
 ke

y w
ork

er,
 m
an
ag
er 

or 
ad
mi
nis

tra
tiv
e s

ec
tio
n, 
sh
ou
ld 
be
 cl
os
ely

 
pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
 m
an
ag
ed
 an

d t
rac

ke
d w

ith
 ta
rge

ts 
to 
se
cu
re 

sig
ne
d c

are
 pl
an
s a

nd
 fin

an
cia

l re
co
rds

 w
ith
in 
a r

ea
so
na
ble

 tim
e i
.e.
 w
ith
in 
8 

we
ek
s f
oll
ow

ing
 ap

pro
va
l o
f th

e c
are

 pl
an
. A

ll r
ele

va
nt 
Co

un
cil 

po
lici
es
 an

d p
roc

ed
ure

s s
ho
uld

 be
 re
vie

we
d i
n l
ine

 w
ith
 ag

ree
d s

erv
ice

 
rev

isio
ns
. 

• 
En

su
re 

tha
t e
ffic

ien
t a
dm

ini
str
ati
ve
 ar

ran
ge
me

nts
 ar

e i
n p

lac
e a

cro
ss
 th
e s

erv
ice

 to
 su

pp
ort
 de

live
ry 
of 
ag
ree

d p
roc

es
se
s a

nd
 to
 re

tai
n 

rel
ev
an
t d
oc
um

en
tat
ion

 in
 an

 ef
fec

tiv
e m

an
ne
r. 

• 
Ra

tio
na
lise

 th
e I
T s

ys
tem

s a
nd
 m
eth

od
s f
or 
ret

ain
ing

 cl
ien

t c
are

 an
d f
ina

nc
ial
 in
for

ma
tio
n a

nd
 co

nd
uc
t th

is 
wit

h t
he
 PC

T t
o e

ns
ure

d t
ha
t a
 

un
ifie

d a
pp
roa

ch
 is
 ad

op
ted

.  D
ata

 cl
ea
ns
ing

 an
d q

ua
lity

 co
ntr

ol 
ch
ec
ks
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 co

nd
uc
ted

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t d
ata

 he
ld 
by
 AS

C 
in 
its
 

sy
ste

ms
 is
 co

ns
ist
en
t, c

om
ple

te,
 co

rre
ct 
an
d u

p t
o d

ate
.  I
n t
he
 ev

en
t th

at 
clie

nt 
inf
orm

ati
on
 is
 he

ld 
in 
dif
fer

en
t s
ys
tem

s t
he
re 

sh
ou
ld 
be
 on

 
go
ing

 ch
ec
ks
 to
 en

su
re 

da
ta 
int
eg
rity

. 
 M
an
ag
em

en
t h
av
e p

os
itiv

ely
 ta
ke
n f
orw

ard
 an

d i
mp

lem
en
ted

 m
an
y o

f th
e h

igh
 pr

ior
ity
 au

dit
 re

co
mm

en
da
tio
ns
 du

rin
g t
he
 re
vie

w.
  

        

Page 83



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

Au
dit

 Ti
tle

:  
Ho

us
ing

 R
ep
air
s C

on
tra
ct 
Ma

na
ge
me

nt 
Da

te 
of 

Au
dit

: 
Ma

rch
/Ap

ril 
20
11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

4 
Cu

rre
nt 

Au
dit

 
Op

ini
on

:  
2 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
3 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
Mo

de
rat

e 
Ke

y R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
Th

e k
ey
 re

co
mm

en
da
tio
ns
 m
ad
e a

s a
 re

su
lt o

f th
e r

ev
iew

 ar
e: 

• 
Th

e H
ou
sin

g R
ep
air
s S

erv
ice

 Im
pro

ve
me

nt 
Pla

n s
ho
uld

 be
 re

vie
we

d a
nd
 up

da
ted

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t it
 re
fle
cts

 th
e s

tra
teg

ic 
ob
jec

tiv
es
 se

t o
ut 
in 

the
 co

ntr
ac
t’s
 In
str
uc
tio
ns
 to
 Te

nd
ere

rs.
 It 
sh
ou
ld 
als

o r
efl
ec
t th

e c
on
tra

ct’
s i
nte

nti
on
s t
o d

ev
elo

p p
art

ne
rin
g a

rra
ng
em

en
ts 
at 
an
 ea

rly
 st
ag
e 

in 
the

 lif
e o

f th
e c

on
tra

ct.
 

• 
Th

e H
ou
sin

g R
ep
air
s C

ore
 G
rou

p s
ho
uld

 be
 fo
rm

all
y m

inu
ted

. A
cti
on
 Lo

gs
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 m
ain

tai
ne
d f
or 

bo
th 
thi
s g

rou
p a

nd
 th
e H

ou
sin

g 
Re

pa
irs
 O
pe
rat

ion
al 
Gr
ou
p. 
Th

es
e l
og
s s

ho
uld

 be
 re

vie
we

d a
nd
 up

da
ted

 at
 ea

ch
 m
ee
tin
g i
n o

rde
r to

 de
mo

ns
tra

te 
str
on
g c

on
tra

ct 
ma

na
ge
me

nt 
of 
SC

S p
erf

orm
an
ce
 ag

ain
st 
the

 co
ntr

ac
t.  
 

• 
Ho

us
ing

 Pr
op
ert

y s
ho
uld

 re
vie

w 
pro

pe
rtie

s w
ith
 la
rge

 nu
mb

ers
 of
 re

pa
ir j
ob
s, 
or 
rec

urr
ing

 jo
bs
 of
 a 
sim

ila
r n

atu
re.

 Po
st 
wo

rk 
ins

pe
cti
on
s 

sh
ou
ld 
foc

us
 on

 th
es
e p

rop
ert

ies
, a
nd
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 ca

rrie
d o

ut 
by
 st
aff
 w
ith
 su

ita
ble

 te
ch
nic

al 
kn
ow

led
ge
 in
 a 
tim

ely
 m
an
ne
r.  

 
• 

Im
ple

me
nta

tio
n o

f th
e ‘
sw

itc
ho
ve
r p

roj
ec
t’ a

nd
 ac

hie
ve
me

nt 
of 
the

 tim
es
ca
les

 in
 th
e p

roj
ec
t p
lan

 sh
ou
ld 
be
 m
on
ito
red

 so
 as

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t 

the
 be

ne
fits

 in
 te
rm

s o
f s
erv

ice
s t
o t
en
an
ts 
an
d o

pe
rat

ion
al 
eff
icie

nc
ies

 co
uld

 be
 re

ali
se
d. 

   Au
dit

 Ti
tle

:  
Ho

us
ing

 As
sis

tan
ce
 - M

od
ule

 Se
cu
rity

 
Da

te 
of 

Au
dit

: 
Ju
ne
 20

11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

2 
Cu

rre
nt 

Au
dit

 
Op

ini
on

:  
3  

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
N/
A 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
Mo

de
rat

e 
Ke

y R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
Th

e k
ey
 re

co
mm

en
da
tio
ns
 m
ad
e a

s a
 re

su
lt o

f th
e r

ev
iew

 ar
e: 

• 
Th

e U
nif
orm

 lo
gic

al 
se
cu
rity

 sy
ste

m 
to 
be
 re

-in
sta

ted
, to

 en
su
re 

ac
ce
ss
 rig

hts
 ar

e r
es
tric

ted
 as

 ap
pro

pri
ate

. 
• 

A s
ys
tem

 re
po
rt t

o b
e p

rod
uc
ed
 to
 sh

ow
 al
l s
taf
f a
cc
es
sin

g t
he
 gr

an
t m

od
ule

s a
nd
 th
e a

nti
 so

cia
l b
eh
av
iou

r m
od
ule

 in
 th
e l
as
t c
ale

nd
ar 

ye
ar 

an
d t
his

 sh
ou
ld 
be
 re

vie
we

d t
o e

ns
ure

 th
e a

cc
es
s/a

cti
on
 w
as
 ap

pro
pri
ate

. E
xp
lan

ati
on
s s

ho
uld

 be
 so

rt f
or 

an
y i
na
pp
rop

ria
te 
ac
tio
ns
. 

   

Page 84



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

Au
dit

 Ti
tle

:  
Ca

rbo
n r

ed
uc
tio
n c

om
mi
tm
en
t 

Da
te 

of 
Au

dit
: 

Ju
ly 
20
11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

N/
A 

Cu
rre

nt 
Au

dit
 

Op
ini

on
:  

N/
A 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
N/
A 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
N/
A 

Ke
y F

ind
ing

s 
Th

is 
is 
the

 fir
st 
tim

e t
he
 C
ou
nc
il h

as
 be

en
 re

qu
ire
d t

o s
ub
mi
t a

n e
vid

en
ce
 pa

ck
 de

tai
lin
g t

he
 C
ou
nc
il’s
 fo

otp
rin
t. I

t w
as
 a 

req
uir
em

en
t fo

r t
he
 

Co
un
cil’
s s

ub
mi
ss
ion

 to
 be

 au
dit
ed
. K

ey
 fin

din
gs
 m
ad
e a

s a
 re

su
lt o

f th
e r
ev
iew

 ar
e: 

• 
On

 th
e b

as
is 
of 
the

 te
sti
ng
 un

de
rta
ke
n, 
the

 do
cu
me

nta
tio
n p

rov
ide

d a
nd
 th
e e

xp
lan

ati
on
s r
ec
eiv

ed
, it
 is
 th
e a

ud
ito
r’s
 op

ini
on
 th
at 
the

 
ev
ide

nc
e p

ac
k u

se
d t
o s

up
po
rt t

he
 en

erg
y c

on
su
mp

tio
n d

ata
 us

ed
 in
 th
e C

ou
nc
il’s
 re

tur
n i
s a

cc
ura

te 
an
d r

efl
ec
ts 
the

 gu
ida

nc
e p

rov
ide

d b
y 

the
 En

vir
on
me

nt 
Ag

en
cy
. 

• 
Ba

se
d o

n t
his

 su
bm

iss
ion

, th
e C

ou
nc
il h

as
 em

itte
d 3

1,6
19
 to
nn
es
 of
 C
O2

 at
 a 
co
st 
of 
ap
pro

xim
ate

ly 
£3
79
,42

8. 
   Au

dit
 Ti

tle
:  

Ch
ild
ren

’s:
 Sa

feg
ua
rdi
ng
 

Da
te 

of 
Au

dit
: 

Ma
rch

/Ap
ril 
& J

un
e 2

01
1 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

0 
Cu

rre
nt 

Au
dit

 
Op

ini
on

:  
2 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
N/
A 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
Mo

de
rat

e 
Ke

y R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
No

 hi
gh
 pr

ior
ity
 re

co
mm

en
da
tio
ns
 w
ere

 m
ad
e f
oll
ow

ing
 th
e r

ev
iew

. Is
su
es
 ra

ise
d (

tha
t w

ere
 gi
ve
n a

 m
ed
ium

 pr
ior
ity
) in

clu
de
d: 

• 
Inc

rea
se
d e

mp
ha
sis

 ne
ed
s t
o b

e p
lac

ed
 on

 th
e i
mp

ort
an
ce
 of
 co

mp
let
ing

 th
e c

as
e f
ile
 re

vie
ws

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t s
taf
f c
an
 al
loc

ate
 su

ffic
ien

t 
tim

e t
o r

ev
iew

 al
l th

e f
ile
s s

ele
cte

d f
or 
tes

tin
g a

nd
 pu

ll t
he
 re

su
lts
 to
ge
the

r in
to 
an
 ac

tio
n p

lan
 th
at 
ca
n b

e d
eli
ve
red

 pr
om

ptl
y. 

• 
Fo

r s
taf
f s
up
erv

isio
n f
ile
s -
 co

pie
s o

f a
ll d

oc
um

en
tat
ion

, o
r re

as
on
s f
or 

its
 ab

se
nc
e, 
sh
ou
ld 
be
 in
clu

de
d o

n t
he
 fil
e a

s w
ell
 as

 th
e e

xp
iry
 da

tes
 

to 
en
su
re 

it c
an
 be

 ch
ec
ke
d o

r re
ch
ec
ke
d a

t th
e a

pp
rop

ria
te 
int
erv

als
. 

 
       

Page 85



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

 Au
dit

 Ti
tle

:  
Ad

ult
: S

afe
gu
ard

ing
 

Da
te 

of 
Au

dit
: 

Ju
ne
 20

11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

6 
Cu

rre
nt 

Au
dit

 
Op

ini
on

:  
2 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
N/
A 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
Mo

de
rat

e 
Ke

y R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
Ke

y r
ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s m

ad
e a

s a
 re

su
lt o

f th
e r

ev
iew

 ar
e: 

• 
A s

ing
le 
po
int
 of
 co

nta
ct 
for

 sa
feg

ua
rdi
ng
 re

fer
ral
s s

ho
uld

 be
 co

ns
ide

red
 to
 en

su
re 

the
re 

is 
a c

om
pre

he
ns
ive

 lis
t o
f a
ll r
efe

rra
ls 
an
d a

llo
w 
for

 
eff
ec
tiv
e m

on
ito
rin
g o

f th
es
e c

as
es
 up

 un
til 
the

y a
re 

eit
he
r re

so
lve

d o
r d

isc
ou
nte

d. 
• 

A r
ev
iew

 sh
ou
ld 
be
 co

nd
uc
ted

 on
 th
e r

es
ou
rce

s r
eq
uir
ed
 to
 ef
fec

tiv
ely

 su
pp
ort

 th
e H

ea
d o

f S
erv

ice
 Ad

ult
 Sa

feg
ua
rdi
ng
 an

d t
he
 LS

AB
 in
 

de
live

rin
g t
he
ir s

tra
teg

y a
nd
 vi
sio

n f
or 
the

 C
ou
nc
il. 
Re

so
urc

es
 al
loc

ate
d b

y o
the

r a
uth

ori
tie
s a

nd
 th
at 
to 
the

 C
ou
nc
il’s
 C
hil
dre

n S
erv

ice
s 

sh
ou
ld 
als

o b
e c

on
sid

ere
d a

s p
art
 of
 th
at 
rev

iew
. 

• 
Th

e m
on
ito
rin
g s

pre
ad
sh
ee
t fo

r th
e c

om
ple

tio
n o

f s
afe

gu
ard

ing
 in
ve
sti
ga
tio
ns
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 am

en
de
d t
o i
nc
lud

e c
los

er 
mo

nit
ori
ng
 of
 ta
rge

t 
da
tes

 fo
r e

ac
h s

tag
e o

f th
e i
nv
es
tig
ati
on
 pr

oc
es
s t
o e

ns
ure

 a 
pro

mp
t c
om

ple
tio
n. 
Ex
ce
pti
on
s s

ho
uld

 be
 hi
gh
lig
hte

d o
n t
his

 re
po
rt. 

Ta
rge

t 
da
tes

 sh
ou
ld 
be
 ad

he
red

 to
 an

d r
ea
so
ns
 fo
r a

ny
 de

lay
s r
ec
ord

ed
 so

 th
at 
the

se
 ca

us
es
 ca

n b
e a

dd
res

se
d. 
 

• 
W
he
re 

the
re 

are
 al
leg

ati
on
s t
ha
t C

ou
nc
il s

taf
f h
av
e c

om
mi
tte
d f
rau

d, 
Int
ern

al 
Au

dit
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 ad

vis
ed
 of
 th
e a

lle
ga
tio
ns
 to
 de

ter
mi
ne
 

wh
eth

er 
the

ir i
nv
olv

em
en
t is

 ap
pro

pri
ate

 in
 fu
rth

er 
inv

es
tig
ati
on
s, 
in 
ac
co
rda

nc
e w

ith
 th
e C

ou
nc
il’s
 An

ti-f
rau

d a
nd
 co

rru
pti
on
 st
rat

eg
y. 

• 
Th

e t
erm

s o
f re

fer
en
ce
 fo
r th

e r
isk

 en
ab
lem

en
t p
an
el 
sh
ou
ld 
be
 fin

ali
se
d a

nd
 fo
rm

all
y a

do
pte

d a
s s

oo
n a

s p
os
sib

le 
to 
en
su
re 

tha
t th

ere
 is
 a 

cle
ar 

an
d d

oc
um

en
ted

 pr
oc
es
s f
or 

mi
nim

isin
g t
he
 ris

k v
uln

era
ble

 pe
rso

ns
 ar

e e
xp
os
ed
 to
 w
he
n c

om
mi
ss
ion

ing
 th
eir
 ow

n c
are

. T
his

 pr
oc
es
s 

sh
ou
ld 
be
 re

gu
lar
ly 
tes

ted
 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t it
 is
 w
ork

ing
 ef
fec

tiv
ely

 an
d t
o i
de
nti
fy 
an
y a

rea
s o

r p
roc

es
se
s w

he
re 

fur
the

r 
ch
an
ge
s/i
mp

rov
em

en
ts 
ma

y b
e r

eq
uir
ed
. 

• 
W
ork

 sh
ou
ld 
co
nti
nu
e o

n i
mp

lem
en
tin
g t
he
 ac

tio
ns
 ag

ree
d a

s a
 re

su
lt o

f th
e l
as
t C

QC
 in
sp
ec
tio
n t
o e

ns
ure

 th
ey
 ar

e f
ull
y i
mp

lem
en
ted

. 
 

         

Page 86



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

Au
dit

 Ti
tle

:  
Pa

yro
ll (
20
10
/11

) 
Da

te 
of 

Au
dit

: 
Ma

rch
/Ap

ril 
20
11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

3 
Cu

rre
nt 

Au
dit

 
Op

ini
on

:  
3 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
3 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
Of
 C
on

ce
rn
 

Ke
y F

ind
ing

s a
nd

 R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
Th

e a
ud
ito
r fo

un
d t
ha
t p
rog

res
s h

ad
 be

en
 m
ad
e o

n i
mp

lem
en
tin
g a

ud
it r
ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s m

ad
e i
n t
he
 pr

ev
iou

s y
ea
r’s
 au

dit
 re

po
rt. 

Ac
tio
ns
 ar

e 
als

o i
n t
he
 pr

oc
es
s o

f b
ein

g u
nd
ert

ak
en
, o
r a

re 
pla

nn
ed
, to

 im
ple

me
nt 
rec

om
me

nd
ati
on
s m

ad
e i
n t
his

 re
po
rt. 
On

ce
 th
es
e r

ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s a

re 
im
ple

me
nte

d t
he
 ris

k t
o t
he
 C
ou
nc
il w

ill r
ed
uc
e f
rom

 its
 cu

rre
nt 
lev

el 
of 
‘of
 co

nc
ern

’ to
 m
od
era

te.
 Th

e r
ea
so
n f
or 
the

 ‘O
f C

on
ce
rn’
 is
 th
at 
the

 
iss

ue
 re

ga
rdi
ng
 au

tho
ris
ed
 si
gn
ato

ry 
list

s/c
he
ck
s t
o t
he
 lis

t re
ma

in 
ou
tst
an
din

g. 
It i
s h

op
ed
 th
at 
he
 in
tro

du
cti
on
 of
 H
R 
‘se

lf-s
erv

ice
’ w

ill r
es
olv

e 
thi
s i
ss
ue
. T

he
 ke

y r
ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s f
rom

 th
e r

ev
iew

 ar
e: 

• 
Au

tho
ris
ed
 si
gn
ato

ry 
list

s s
ho
uld

 be
 pr

od
uc
ed
 fo
r a

ll k
ey
 Pa

yro
ll p

roc
es
sin

g t
as
ks
, e
.g.
 st
art

ers
, le

av
ers

 an
d p

erm
an
en
t/te

mp
ora

ry 
va
ria
tio
ns
 to
 pa

y a
nd
 sa

mp
le 
ch
ec
ks
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 m
ad
e a

ga
ins

t th
es
e l
ist
s t
o e

ns
ure

 th
at 
pa
ym

en
ts 
are

 pr
op
erl
y a

uth
ori
se
d. 

• 
Th

ere
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 au

tho
ris
ed
 su

pp
ort

ing
 do

cu
me

nta
tio
n o

n f
ile
 to
 su

pp
ort

 al
l te

mp
ora

ry 
ad
dit
ion

s/d
ed
uc
tio
ns
 to
 pa

y. 
• 

Hig
he
r d

uty
 pa

ym
en
ts 
sh
ou
ld 
no
t b
e p

roc
es
se
d w

ith
ou
t th

e a
pp
rop

ria
te 
au
tho

ris
ati
on
. R

eg
ula

r re
vie

ws
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 co

nd
uc
ted

 of
 st
aff
 

rec
eiv

ing
 hi
gh
er 

du
ty 
pa
ym

en
ts 
to 
en
su
re 

tha
t th

ey
 ar

e s
till 

va
lid
. B

ud
ge
t m

on
ito
rin
g s

ho
uld

 id
en
tify

 er
ror

s i
n p

ay
.  

 
   Au

dit
 Ti

tle
:  

Pa
yro

ll: 
Sta

rte
rs 
an
d L

ea
ve
rs 
(20

10
/11

) 
Da

te 
of 

Au
dit

: 
Ma

rch
/Ap

ril 
20
11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

4 
Cu

rre
nt 

Au
dit

 
Op

ini
on

:  
3 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
3 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
Of
 C
on

ce
rn
 

Ke
y F

ind
ing

s a
nd

 R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
Th

e f
oll
ow

ing
 ke

y r
ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s s

ho
uld

 be
 im

ple
me

nte
d i
n o

rde
r to

 ac
hie

ve
 th
e i
mp

rov
em

en
ts 
req

uir
ed
:   

• 
Th

e m
iss

ing
 fil
es
 id
en
tifi
ed
 in
 th
is 
rev

iew
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 lo
ca
ted

. 
• 

Fil
ing

 of
 st
art

er 
an
d l
ea
ve
r fo

rm
s s

ho
uld

 be
 br

ou
gh
t u
p t
o d

ate
.  

• 
All
 ne

w 
sta

rte
rs 
an
d l
ea
ve
rs 
sh
ou
ld 
be
 su

pp
ort

ed
 w
ith
 an

 au
tho

ris
ed
 ne

w 
sta

rte
r o

r le
av
er 

for
m.
 

• 
All
 pa

ym
en
ts 
ma

de
 in
 ad

dit
ion

 to
 th
e b

as
ic 
sa
lar
y s

uc
h a

s s
ev
era

nc
e p

ay
, s
ho
uld

 ha
ve
 su

ffic
ien

t s
up
po
rtin

g, 
au
tho

ris
ed
 do

cu
me

nta
tio
n o

n 
file

.   
 

Page 87



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

Au
dit

 Ti
tle

:  
Pla

y-b
uil
de
r G

ran
t 

Da
te 

of 
Au

dit
: 

Ju
ne
 20

11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

N/
A 

Cu
rre

nt 
Au

dit
 

Op
ini

on
:  

N/
A 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
N/
A 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
N/
A 

Ke
y F

ind
ing

s 
An

 au
dit
 re

vie
w 
of 

the
 ex

pe
nd
itu
re 

fun
de
d b

y t
he
 P
lay

-bu
ild
er 

Gr
an
t r
ec
eiv

ed
 fr
om

 th
e D

ep
art

me
nt 

for
 E
du
ca
tio
n w

as
 un

de
rta

ke
n. 

Th
e g

ran
t 

en
ab
les

 co
un
cils

 to
 re

fur
bis

h c
hil
dre

n’s
 pl
ay
 ar

ea
s. 
Ke

y f
ind

ing
s a

nd
 re

co
mm

en
da
tio
ns
 ar

e: 
• 

Th
e A

ud
ito
r w

as
 no

t p
res

en
ted

 w
ith
 a 
de
tai
led

 in
co
me

 an
d e

xp
en
dit
ure

 an
aly

sis
 in
 or

de
r to

 co
nfi
rm

 th
at 
the

 co
nd
itio

ns
 at
tac

he
d t
o t
he
 Lo

ca
l 

Ar
ea
 Ag

ree
me

nt 
Pe

rfo
rm
an
ce
 R
ew

ard
 G
ran

t F
un
d G

ran
t D

ete
rm

ina
tio
n h

ad
 be

en
 co

mp
lie
d w

ith
.  C

on
se
qu
en
tly
, in

 or
de
r to

 en
su
re 

tha
t th

e 
Co

un
cil 

me
t th

e r
etu

rn 
su
bm

iss
ion

 de
ad
lin
e o

f 3
0th

 Ju
ne
 20

11
, th

e A
ud
ito
r h

ad
 to
 try

 to
 pu

ll t
og
eth

er 
all
 th
e r

ele
va
nt 
ex
pe
nd
itu
re 

inf
orm

ati
on
.  

• 
Th

e P
ark

s T
ea
m 
co
uld

 no
t p
rov

ide
 in
vo
ice

s f
or 
fou

r p
lay

 ar
ea
s, 
co
mp

let
ed
 in
 th
e p

eri
od
 20

09
-10

, w
hic

h w
as
 ou

tsi
de
 of
 th
e t
im
efr

am
e b

ein
g 

sig
ne
d o

ff. 
• 

Du
e t
o d

ela
ys
 in
cu
rre

d w
hil
st 
the

 G
ov
ern

me
nt 
rev

iew
ed
 th
e p

rog
ram

me
 an

d a
gre

ed
 re

vis
ed
 al
loc

ati
on
s f
or 

20
10
/11

 th
e p

rog
ram

me
 ha

s r
un
 

ov
er 

int
o t
he
 cu

rre
nt 
fin
an
cia

l y
ea
r. 

• 
On

 th
e b

as
is 
of 
the

 te
sti
ng
 ca

rrie
d o

ut,
 it 
is 
the

 au
dit
or’
s o

pin
ion

 th
at 
the

 ex
pe
nd
itu
re 

inc
urr

ed
 co

mp
lie
s w

ith
 th
e c

on
dit
ion

s a
tta
ch
ed
 to
 th
e 

Pla
y C

ap
ita
l G

ran
t D

ete
rm

ina
tio
n 2

01
0-1

1: 
No

. 3
1/1

84
3. 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
 

• 
Fo

r fu
tur

e p
roj
ec
ts 
a d

eta
ile
d a

na
lys

is 
of 
inc

om
e a

nd
 ex

pe
nd
itu
re 

sh
ou
ld 
be
 m
ain

tai
ne
d a

nd
 pr

ov
ide

d f
or 

au
dit
. A

ll in
vo
ice

s s
ho
uld

 be
 

ma
int
ain

ed
 an

d b
e a

va
ila
ble

 fo
r in

sp
ec
tio
n a

nd
 re
vie

w.
  

           

Page 88



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

Au
dit

 Ti
tle

:  
Ri
sk
 M
an

ag
em

en
t 2

01
0/1

1 
Da

te 
of 

Au
dit

 R
ep

or
t: 

Au
gu
st 
20
11
 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

Hi
gh

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
: 

5 
Cu

rre
nt 

Au
dit

 
Op

ini
on

:  
3 

Pr
ev
iou

s A
ud

it 
Op

ini
on

:  
3 

Ov
era

ll E
va
lua

tio
n 

(R
isk

): 
Of
 C
on

ce
rn
  

Ke
y F

ind
ing

s a
nd

 R
ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
• 

Int
ern

al 
Au

dit
 is
 re

qu
ire
d t
o g

ive
 an

 op
ini
on
 on

 th
e C

ou
nc
il’s
 ris

k m
an
ag
em

en
t a
rra

ng
em

en
ts 
on
 an

 an
nu
al 
ba
sis

. T
he
 pr

ev
iou

s a
ud
it o

f 
Ris

k M
an
ag
em

en
t c
on
du
cte

d i
n 2

00
9/1

0 i
nd
ica

ted
 th
at 
the

 ef
fec

tiv
en
es
s o

f ri
sk
 m
an
ag
em

en
t p
roc

es
s w

ith
in 
the

 C
ou
nc
il w

as
 no

t ro
bu
st 

an
d a

 nu
mb

er 
of 
sig

nif
ica

nt 
fin
din

gs
 an

d r
ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s w

ere
 m
ad
e t
o i
mp

rov
e m

iss
ing

 or
 fa
ilin

g c
on
tro

ls.
  

• 
Sin

ce
 th
is 
au
dit
, th

e C
ou
nc
il’s
 pr

oc
es
s a

nd
 fra

me
wo

rk 
aro

un
d w

hic
h r

isk
 m
an
ag
em

en
t is

 st
ruc

tur
ed
 ha

s b
ee
n c

ha
ng
ing

 an
d a

 ne
w 

ap
pro

ac
h t
o b

us
ine

ss
 re
vie

w 
ha
s b

ee
n i
ntr

od
uc
ed
. T

his
 au

dit
 w
as
 un

de
rta
ke
n t
o p

rov
ide

 as
su
ran

ce
 re

ga
rdi
ng
 th
e r

isk
 m
an
ag
em

en
t 

pro
ce
ss
 an

d t
o a

ss
ist
 in
 th
e f
ac
ilita

tio
n o

f im
ple

me
nti
ng
 th
is 
ne
w 
ap
pro

ac
h. 
Th

e c
on
clu

sio
n o

n t
he
 sy

ste
m 
of 
int
ern

al 
co
ntr

ols
 in
 pl
ac
e a

t 
thi
s s

tag
e o

f im
ple

me
nta

tio
n i
s t
ha
t s
ign

ific
an
t im

pro
ve
me

nts
 ar

e s
till 

req
uir
ed
 be

for
e r

eli
an
ce
 ca

n b
e p

lac
ed
 on

 th
e r

isk
 m
an
ag
em

en
t 

fra
me

wo
rk 
in 
op
era

tio
n. 
 

• 
A n

um
be
r o

f k
ey
 re

co
mm

en
da
tio
ns
 ha

ve
 be

en
 m
ad
e t
o a

ss
ist
 in
 es

tab
lish

ing
 a 
rob

us
t ri
sk
 m
an
ag
em

en
t fr

am
ew

ork
: 

• 
Co

rpo
rat

e B
oa
rd 

sh
ou
ld 
ag
ree

 th
e f
utu

re 
ap
pro

ac
h a

nd
 al
ign

me
nt 
of 
the

 bu
sin

es
s r
ev
iew

 an
d r

isk
 m
an
ag
em

en
t p
roc

es
se
s. 
Th

e 
ob
jec

tiv
es
 of
 th
es
e p

roc
es
se
s s

ho
uld

 al
so
 be

 de
fin
ed
.   

• 
A r

ev
iew

 of
 th
e f
orm

at 
an
d u

se
 of
 th
e C

orp
ora

te 
Ris

k R
eg
ist
er 

sh
ou
ld 
be
 de

ter
mi
ne
d b

y C
orp

ora
te 
Bo

ard
, fa

cili
tat
ed
 by

 th
e H

ea
d 

of 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 an

d R
isk

. A
 fu
ll a

pp
rai
sa
l o
f ty

pe
s o

f ri
sk
 to
 be

 in
clu

de
d, 
for

ma
t, t
he
 lin

k t
o t
he
 bu

sin
es
s r
ev
iew

 an
d r

ela
tio
ns
hip

 
wit

h o
the

r G
rou

p l
ev
el 
ris
k a

cti
vit
ies

 sh
ou
ld 
als

o b
e d

ete
rm

ine
d. 
 

• 
A r

ev
iew

 of
 th
e G

rou
p p

erf
orm

an
ce
 an

d r
isk

 re
po
rtin

g p
roc

es
s s

ho
uld

 be
 un

de
rta

ke
n t
o e

ns
ure

 th
at 
thi
s m

ee
ts 
the

 fu
tur

e 
as
su
ran

ce
 ne

ed
s o

f th
e C

ou
nc
il a

nd
 is
 al
ign

ed
 to
 co

rpo
rat

e l
ev
el 
ris
k m

an
ag
em

en
t re

qu
ire
me

nts
. S

ub
mi
ss
ion

 of
 ap

pro
pri
ate

 ris
k 

rep
ort

ing
 sh

ou
ld 
be
 m
on
ito
red

, h
old

ing
 to
 ac

co
un
t u
nd
erp

erf
orm

ing
 ar

ea
s a

nd
 es

ca
lat
ing

 th
es
e t
o C

orp
ora

te 
Bo

ard
, w

he
re 

ap
pro

pri
ate

. 
• 

Th
e v

ari
ou
s s

tag
es
 of
 th
e b

us
ine

ss
 re

vie
w 
pro

ce
ss
 sh

ou
ld 
inc

lud
e a

 m
ore

 fo
rm

al 
str
uc
tur

e t
o g

uid
e t
he
 id
en
tifi
ca
tio
n, 
ev
alu

ati
on
, 

rev
iew

 an
d m

on
ito
rin
g o

f k
ey
 is
su
es
 an

d a
gre

ed
 ac

tio
ns
. T

his
 sh

ou
ld 
inc

lud
e k

ey
 ev

ide
nc
e r

eq
uir
em

en
ts 
to 
jus

tify
 in
clu

sio
n o

n t
he
 

lon
g l
ist
, a
cti
on
 pl
an
 te
mp

lat
es
 an

d o
the

r re
lev

an
t it
em

s. 
A f

urt
he
r d

isc
us
sio

n i
s n

ee
de
d t
o e

sta
bli
sh
 w
he
the

r th
e l
on
g-l
ist
 us

ed
 

du
rin
g b

us
ine

ss
 re

vie
w 
is 
su
ita
ble

 fo
r u

se
 as

 a 
du
al 
do
cu
me

nt 
for

 th
e p

urp
os
es
 of
 bo

th 
the

 bu
sin

es
s r
ev
iew

 an
d f
or 
the

 
ma

na
ge
me

nt 
of 
ris
k. 

• 
Th

e f
orm

at 
an
d c

on
ten

t o
f th

e l
on
g l
ist
 in
 fu
tur

e n
ee
ds
 to
 be

 re
vie

we
d t
o e

ns
ure

 it 
is 
pit
ch
ed
 at
 an

 ap
pro

pri
ate

 le
ve
l. T

his
 is
 to
 

sa
tis
fy 
the

 C
hie

f E
xe
cu
tiv
e a

nd
 C
orp

ora
te 
Bo

ard
’s 
as
su
ran

ce
 re
qu
ire
me

nts
, b
ut 
als

o t
o a

ss
ist
 in
 th
e a

ch
iev

em
en
t o
f c
orp

ora
te 

ob
jec

tiv
es
. 

Page 89



IN
TE

RN
AL

 A
UD

IT 
RE

PO
RT

S F
IN
AL

ISE
D 
SIN

CE
 TH

E L
AS

T A
UD

IT 
CO

MM
ITT

EE
 M
EE

TIN
G 
(28

 JU
NE

 20
11
) 

 

Page 90



Ap
ril 

Ma
y 

Ju
ne

 
Ju

ly
Au

gu
st

Se
pte

mb
er

Oc
tob

er
No

ve
mb

er
De

ce
mb

er
Ja
nu

ary
Fe

br
ua

ry
Ma

rch
Ma

na
ge

d A
ud

its
 C
om

ple
ted

 

Ma
na

ge
d M

on
th 

To
tal

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

Ma
na

ge
d C

um
ula

tiv
e T

ota
l

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

Ma
na

ge
d T

arg
et 

%
0

0
0

0
0

0
25

50
50

75
75

10
0

Ma
na

ge
d A

ch
iev

ed
 %

 
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%

Ap
ril 

Ma
y 

Ju
ne

 
Ju

ly
Au

gu
st

Se
pte

mb
er

Oc
tob

er
No

ve
mb

er
De

ce
mb

er
Ja
nu

ary
Fe

br
ua

ry
Ma

rch
Ot
he

r A
ud

its
 Is
su

ed
Sta

rte
rs 
an
d L

ea
ve
rs 

(10
/11

)
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 R
ew

ard
 

Gr
an
t

Pu
bli
c H

ea
lth
 trn

sfr
 

c/l
ist
s

Pe
rso

na
lisa

tio
n /
  

Pe
rso

na
l B

ud
ge
ts

Gr
ou
nd
s 

Ma
int
en
an
ce
 H
RA

HB
 C
lai
ms

 
Pr
oc
es
sin

g (
10
/11

)
Inv

 11
/12

-1
Pla

yB
uil
de
r G

ran
t 

Ce
rtif
ica

tio
n

Bu
sin

es
s C

on
tin
uit
y

NF
I - 

Blu
e B

ad
ge
s

AS
C 
De

co
up
lin
g 

Re
ad
ine

ss
 (2

)
Inv

 11
/12

-2
Ro

bu
stn

es
s o

f 
Fin

an
cia

l P
lan

nin
g 

an
d M

an
ag
em

en
t in

 
Ad

ult
 So

cia
l C

are
Te

mp
ora

ry 
Po

sts
NF

I - 
Co

nc
es
sio

na
ry 

Tra
ve
l

Re
co
up
me

nt 
f/u
p

Inv
 10

/11
-7

As
se
t v
eri
fic
ati
on
 

AS
C 
De

co
up
lin
g 

Re
ad
ine

ss
 (3

)
NF

I - 
Ca

re 
Ho

me
s

W
B 1

0/1
1-5

Gr
ey
ho
un
d i
nv

AS
C 
Sa

feg
ua
rdi
ng

Re
ve
nu
es
 & 

Be
ne
fits

 
IT

La
ins

me
ad
 Pr

im
ary

Ris
k M

an
ag
em

en
t

Inv
 11

/12
-3

Ch
ild
ren

s -
 

Sa
feg

ua
rdi
ng

Ho
us
ing

 As
sis

tan
ce
 - 

Mo
du
le 
Se

cu
rity

Ch
ise

ldo
n P

rim
ary

To
oth

ill P
rim

ary
Pr
int
ing

 H
B C

he
qu
es

Sc
ho
ols

: 
Sta

rte
rs/
Le
av
ers

Eli
gib

ility
 of
 C
are

Co
mp

lia
nc
e w

ith
 

Pr
oc
ure

me
nt 
Re

g's
Go

ld 
Ch

all
en
ge

Ca
rbo

n R
ed
uc
tio
n 

Co
mm

itm
en
t

No
n-m

an
ag

ed
 to

tal
 fo

r m
on

th
8

7
6

10
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
Cu

mm
ula

tiv
e n

on
 m

an
ag

ed
 au

dit
s

8
15

21
31

37
37

37
37

37
37

37
37

Ap
ril 

Ma
y 

Ju
ne

 
Ju

ly
Au

gu
st

Se
pte

mb
er

Oc
tob

er
No

ve
mb

er
De

ce
mb

er
Ja
nu

ary
Fe

br
ua

ry
Ma

rch
Ov

era
ll M

on
th 

To
tal

 Au
dit

s
8

7
6

10
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
Ov

era
ll T

ota
l A

ud
its

8
15

21
31

37
37

37
37

37
37

37
37

Ta
rg
et 

Co
mp

let
ion

 of
 Pl

an
 %

5
10

17
24

32
40

48
56

63
71

80
92

Au
dit

 Pl
an

 Ac
hie

vm
en

t %
7%

14
%

19
%

28
%

34
%

34
%

34
%

34
%

34
%

34
%

34
%

34
%

Ma
na

ge
d A

ud
its

 C
om

ple
ted

 (5
 Au

dit
s) 

- D
raf

t

To
tal

 N
on

 M
an

ag
ed

 Au
dit

s C
om

ple
ted

 (1
04
)  -

 D
raf

t

Pr
ep
are

d b
y N

ick
 H
ob
bs
, H

ea
d o

f In
ter

na
l A

ud
it

15
:23

  1
2/0

9/1
1

Page 91



Page 92

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Final Accounts 2010-11
	6 Annual Governance Statement
	appx 1 - Draft GOV STATEMENT June 10
	Appendix 2 - sources of assurance

	7 Internal Audit reports identifying significant risk or 'of concern':Adult Social Care - Eligibility of Care
	Eligibility of Care - Final Report -16-06-2011 with Mgmt responses

	8 Anti-Fraud & Bribery Strategy and Whistleblowing Procedure
	Anti Fraud Strategy August 2011
	Appx 1 - Whistleblowing oct 2011
	Appx 2 - SBC Fraud Response oct 2011

	9 Head of Internal Audit Update
	Appendix 1 - audit summaries
	HoIA Update - Appendix 2 - Sept


